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DEFINITIONS

1

In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the following 

meanings:

“Acquisition” the proposed acquisition of the Property by Noble Castle

“associate(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

“Board” the board of Directors

“Company” Heritage International Holdings Limited, a company incorporated 

in Bermuda with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on 

the main board of the Stock Exchange

“Completion” completion of the sale and purchase of the Property

“connected person(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s 

Republic of China

“Latest Practicable Date” 25 May 2009, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing 

of this circular for the purpose of ascertaining certain information 

contained herein

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 

Exchange

“Mr. Kwong” Mr. Kwong Kai Sing, Benny, an executive Director and the 

Chairman of the Company

“Noble Castle” Noble Castle International Limited, a company incorporated in 

Hong Kong with limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of the Company

“Property” House No.B7 (including its 2 car parking spaces), Regalia Bay, 

No.88 Wong Ma Kok Road, Hong Kong

“Provisional Agreement” the provisional agreement for sale and purchase dated 21 April 

2009 entered into between Noble Castle as the purchaser and 

Joint Gain as the vendor in relation to the sale and purchase of the 

Property
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“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of 

Hong Kong)

“SGM” the special general meeting of the Company to be convened at 30/

F., China United Centre, No.28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong 

Kong on 15 June 2009 at 9:00 a.m. for the purpose of approving 

the Acquisition

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the 

Company

“Shareholder(s)” the shareholder(s) of the Company

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“%” per cent.
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HERITAGE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
漢基控股有限公司 *

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 412)

Executive Directors: Registered office:

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny Clarendon House

Ong Peter 2 Church Street

Poon Chi Wan Hamilton HM 11

Chow Chi Wah, Vincent Bermuda

Independent non-executive Directors: Principal place of business in

Chan Sze Hung  Hong Kong:

To Shing Chuen 29/F., China United Centre

Ha Kee Choy, Eugene No.28 Marble Road

Chung Yuk Lun North Point

Lo Wong Fung Hong Kong

 27 May 2009

To the Shareholders and holders of warrants of the Company

Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR TRANSACTION

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY

1. INTRODUCTION

The Board announced on 23 April 2009 that on 21 April 2009, Noble Castle, a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Provisional Agreement with Joint Gain, pursuant to 

which Noble Castle had agreed to purchase, and Joint Gain had agreed to sell, the Property for a cash 

consideration of HK$45 million.

The Acquisition constitutes a major transaction for the Company under Rule 14.06 of the Listing 

Rules and is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the SGM. The main purpose of this circular is 

to provide you with further particulars of the Acquisition and the notice of the SGM.

* For identification purposes only
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2. THE PROVISIONAL AGREEMENT

Date:

21 April 2009

Parties:

Vendor : Joint Gain, a property holding company incorporated in Hong Kong with 

limited liability. To the best of the knowledge, information and 

belief of the Directors, after having made all reasonable enquiries, 

Joint Gain and its ultimate beneficial owner(s) are third parties 

independent of the Company and its connected persons.

Purchaser : Noble Castle, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Property to be acquired:

House No.B7 (including its 2 car parking spaces), Regalia Bay, No.88 Wong Ma Kok Road, 

Hong Kong. The Property is a high-class residential property situated in Stanley on Hong Kong Island, 

occupying a total gross floor area of approximately 4,089 square feet. The Property is currently subject to 

a tenancy with rental agreed at HK$140,000 per month (inclusive of management fees, government rent 

and rates) and expiring on 31 May 2010.

Based on the information provided by Joint Gain, the rental income attributable to the Property for 

the two financial years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2009 was approximately HK$1.44 million and 

HK$1.40 million respectively.

The Property was valued at HK$46 million as at 20 April 2009 by Asset Appraisal Limited, an 

independent qualified professional property valuer appointed by the Company, which valuation report is 

set out in Appendix IV to this circular.

Consideration:

The consideration payable by Noble Castle to Joint Gain for the acquisition of the Property is 

HK$45 million. An initial deposit of HK$2.25 million was paid by Noble Castle to Joint Gain upon 

signing of the Provisional Agreement. A further deposit of HK$2.25 million was paid by Noble Castle to 

Joint Gain on 8 May 2009 and the remaining balance of HK$40.5 million will be paid by Noble Castle to 

Joint Gain on Completion.

The Directors originally intended to fund the consideration by internal resources of the Group but 

after further discussion and consideration, are now considering funding the Acquisition partly by internal 

resources and partly by bank borrowings in view of the relatively low interest rate at present.
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The consideration has been arrived at after arm’s length negotiations between the parties with 

reference to the prevailing market value of residential properties of similar size and age as the Property in 

the same vicinity.

Completion:

Completion shall take place on or before 21 July 2009. Pursuant to the terms of the Provisional 

Agreement, should Noble Castle fail to complete the purchase in the manner contained in the Provisional 

Agreement, the initial deposit shall be forfeited to Joint Gain and Joint Gain shall not sue Noble Castle 

for any liabilities and/or damages or to enforce specific performance. On the other hand, should Joint 

Gain fail to complete the sale in the manner contained in the Provisional Agreement, Joint Gain shall 

immediately compensate Noble Castle with a refund of the initial deposit together with a sum equivalent 

to the amount of the initial deposit as liquidated damages and Noble Castle shall not take any further 

action to claim for damages or to enforce specific performance.

3. REASONS FOR, AND BENEFITS OF, THE ACQUISITION

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged 

in property related investments, investment in securities, investment in advertising and lottery related 

businesses and money-lending businesses.

The property market in Hong Kong has experienced a recent downturn but the management of the 

Company is optimistic about the future of the Hong Kong property market and has accordingly taken 

advantage of this opportunity to acquire the Property at a comparatively reasonable price. The Directors 

consider that the Acquisition is a good investment opportunity and believe that the Group will benefit from 

the anticipated growth in value of the Property.

The Property will continue to be leased immediately after Completion for rental income and 

depending on the market conditions, may be sold for gain after expiration of the lease. Given that the 

consideration reflects the fair market value of the Property, the Directors consider the terms of the 

Acquisition to be fair and reasonable and are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a 

whole.

4. FINANCIAL EFFECT OF THE ACQUISITION

Upon Completion, the Property will be included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as an 

investment property. Although such Acquisition can broaden the asset base of the Group, the Board does 

not expect any significant impact on the Group’s net asset value as any increase in non-current assets will 

be offset by a corresponding decrease in bank balances and cash and/or increase in bank borrowings of the 

Group. In the short term, the Acquisition will enable the Group to generate more recurring rental income, 

thereby strengthening the income base of the Group in Hong Kong. Save as aforesaid, the Directors 

confirm that there is no other material impact on the earnings of the Group as a result of the Acquisition.
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5. GENERAL

The Acquisition constitutes a major transaction for the Company under Rule 14.06 of the Listing 

Rules and is subject to the approval of the Shareholders. To the best of the knowledge, information 

and belief of the Directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, no Shareholders or any of their 

respective associates (other than Mr. Kwong who had undertaken to the Company that in the event the 

requisite Shareholders’ approval required for the Acquisition is not obtained on or before 21 July 2009, 

he would acquire the entire beneficial interest in Noble Castle at the aggregate consideration of HK$4.5 

million, which is equivalent to the total deposit paid by Noble Castle under the Provisional Agreement) 

have any material interest in the Acquisition. As such, only Mr. Kwong and his associates, who together 

held approximately 0.60% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, 

will abstain from voting at the SGM.

6. SGM

A notice convening the SGM to be held at 30/F., China United Centre, No.28 Marble Road, North 

Point, Hong Kong on 15 June 2009 at 9:00 a.m. is set out on page S – 1 of this circular. A form of proxy 

for use at the SGM is also enclosed. If you are not able to attend the meeting, you are strongly urged to 

complete the accompanying form of proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return 

it to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 29/F., China United Centre, No.28 

Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong as soon as possible and in any event not later than 48 hours before 

the time appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof. Completion and return of the form 

of proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting at the meeting or any adjourned meeting should 

you so wish.

In accordance with Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, the vote of the Shareholders will be taken by 

poll at the SGM.

7. RECOMMENDATION

The Board considers that the Acquisition is in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders 

as a whole and recommends all Shareholders who are entitled to vote at the SGM to vote in favour of the 

resolution set out in the notice of the SGM.

8. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Your attention is also drawn to the additional information set out in the Appendices to this circular.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of the Board

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny
Chairman
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1. SUMMARY OF THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last three 

financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements of the Group for the three 

years ended 31 March 2008.

Consolidated Income Statement
Three years ended 31 March 2008

 2008 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 51,765 531,600 242,287

Cost of sales and carrying amount of equity investments sold – (612,011) (272,176)
   

Gross profit/(loss) 51,765 (80,411) (29,889)

Other income and gains 8,880 2,945 6,327

Gains/(losses) arising from changes in fair 

 value of investment properties, net 1,900 (2,976) 13,183

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments at

 fair value through profit or loss, net (404,401) 18,035 77,406

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale 

 investments, net – (24,411) –

Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries 6,877 (410) 118

General and administrative expenses (24,038) (28,482) (21,448)

Other expenses, net (2,757) (62,737) (62,206)

Finance costs (4,501) (27,445) (4,760)

Impairment of interests in 

 jointly-controlled entities – (15,972) –

Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities – (4,028) –
   

LOSS BEFORE TAX (366,275) (225,892) (21,269)

Tax (1,476) (2,553) (2,907)
   

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

 EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (367,751) (228,445) (24,176)
   

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

 ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF

 THE COMPANY

 Basic HK(54.47) cents HK(2.10) cents HK(0.45) cent
   

 Diluted N/A N/A N/A
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 March 2008, 2007 and 2006

 2008 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 16,314 30,742 31,417

Investment properties 150,500 168,600 122,900

Interests in jointly-controlled entities – – –

Available-for-sale investments 9,130 8,719 121,985

Loan receivable 4,070 1,000 2,000

Convertible bond – loan portion 16,630 – –

Loan to an investee company – – 49,838

Deposit for purchase of an investment property – – 4,900

Other deposits – – 2,450
   

Total non-current assets 196,644 209,061 335,490
   

CURRENT ASSETS

Loans receivable 569,499 296,850 200,450

Convertible bond – option derivatives 1,626 – –

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 357,627 352,195 307,808

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24,603 16,431 13,196

Cash and bank balances 205,172 127,695 37,095

Non-current asset held for sale – – 10,900
   

Total current assets 1,158,527 793,171 569,449
   

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals 5,031 37,374 17,096

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 10,334 9,274 11,237

Derivative financial instrument – 557 752

Tax payable 800 1,270 674
   

Total current liabilities 16,165 48,475 29,759
   

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,142,362 744,696 539,690
   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,339,006 953,757 875,180
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 March 2008, 2007 and 2006

 2008 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 68,672 100,108 47,838

Convertible notes – 27,810 –

Deferred tax liabilities 9,370 8,353 6,307
   

Total non-current liabilities 78,042 136,271 54,145
   

Net assets 1,260,964 817,486 821,035
   

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders 
 of the Company
Issued capital 213,167 348,270 142,682

Equity component of convertible notes – 4,419 –

Reserves 1,047,797 464,797 678,353
   

Total equity 1,260,964 817,486 821,035
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2. AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Set out below are the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 

March 2008 together with accompanying notes as extracted from the annual report of the Company for the 

year ended 31 March 2008.

Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 31 March 2008

  2008 2007
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

   (Restated)

REVENUE 5 51,765 (80,411)

Other income and gains 5 8,880 2,945

Gains/(losses) arising from changes in fair 

 value of investment properties, net 14 1,900 (2,976)

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments at

 fair value through profit or loss, net  (404,401) 18,035

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale 

 investments, net  – (24,411)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries 30(a) 6,877 (410)

General and administrative expenses  (24,038) (28,482)

Other expenses, net  (2,757) (62,737)

Finance costs 7 (4,501) (27,445)

Impairment of interests in 

 jointly-controlled entities  – (15,972)

Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities  – (4,028)
   

LOSS BEFORE TAX 6 (366,275) (225,892)

Tax 10 (1,476) (2,553)
   

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

 EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 11 (367,751) (228,445)
   

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

 ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF

 THE COMPANY 12

   (Restated)

 Basic  HK(54.47) cents HK(39.13) cents
   

 Diluted  N/A N/A
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 March 2008

  2008 2007
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 13 16,314 30,742

Investment properties 14 150,500 168,600

Interests in jointly-controlled entities 16 – –

Available-for-sale investments 17 9,130 8,719

Loan receivable 19 4,070 1,000

Convertible bond – loan portion 20 16,630 –
   

Total non-current assets  196,644 209,061
   

CURRENT ASSETS

Loans receivable 19 569,499 296,850

Convertible bond – option derivatives 20 1,626 –

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 21 357,627 352,195

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 24,603 16,431

Cash and bank balances  205,172 127,695
   

Total current assets  1,158,527 793,171
   

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals  5,031 37,374

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 23 10,334 9,274

Derivative financial instrument 25 – 557

Tax payable  800 1,270
   

Total current liabilities  16,165 48,475
   

NET CURRENT ASSETS  1,142,362 744,696
   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,339,006 953,757
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 March 2008

  2008 2007
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 23 68,672 100,108

Convertible notes 24 – 27,810

Deferred tax liabilities 26 9,370 8,353
   

Total non-current liabilities  78,042 136,271
   

Net assets  1,260,964 817,486
   

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders 
 of the Company
Issued capital 27 213,167 348,270

Equity component of convertible notes  – 4,419

Reserves 29(a) 1,047,797 464,797
   

Total equity  1,260,964 817,486
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 March 2008

 Attributable to equity holders of the Company
 

    Equity    Available-

    component    for-sale

   Share of Capital Asset   investment Share Accumu-

  Issued premium convertible redemption revaluation Contributed revaluation option lated Total

  capital account notes reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve losses equity

 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2006  142,682 387,885 – 1,177 3,046 319,113 51,500 674 (85,042) 821,035

Changes in fair value of 

 available-for-sale 

 investments  – – – – – – (4,345) – – (4,345)

Disposal of

 available-for-sale

  investments  – – – – – – (53,424) – – (53,424)
           

Total expense for the year 

 recognised directly

 in equity  – – – – – – (57,769) – – (57,769)

Loss for the year  – – – – – – – – (228,445) (228,445)
           

Total expense for the year  – – – – – – (57,769) – (228,445) (286,214)

Issue of convertible notes  – – 44,192 – – – – – – 44,192

Redemption of 

 convertible notes  – – (6,629) – – – – – – (6,629)

Conversion of 

 convertible notes 27(a) 180,000 61,043 (33,144) – – – – – – 207,899

Equity-settled share 

 option arrangements  – – – – – – – 6,645 – 6,645

Share options exercised 27(b) 25,588 12,289 – – – – – (7,319) – 30,558
           

At 31 March 2007  348,270 461,217* 4,419 1,177* 3,046* 319,113* (6,269)* –* (313,487)* 817,486
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 March 2008

 Attributable to equity holders of the Company
 

    Equity    Available-

    component    for-sale

   Share of Capital Asset   investment Share Accumu-

  Issued premium convertible redemption revaluation Contributed revaluation option lated Total

  capital account notes reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve losses equity

 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2007  348,270 461,217 4,419 1,177 3,046 319,113 (6,269) – (313,487) 817,486

Changes in fair value of 

 available-for-sale 

 investments  – – – – – – 952 – – 952

Impairment of an 

 available-for-sale 

 investment charged

 to income statement  – – – – – – 5,757 – – 5,757
           

Total income recognised 

 directly in equity  – – – – – – 6,709 – – 6,709

Loss for the year  – – – – – – – – (367,751) (367,751)
           

Total income and 

 expense for the year  – – – – – – 6,709 – (367,751) (361,042)

Conversion of 

 convertible notes 27(c) 24,000 8,228 (4,419) – – – – – – 27,809

Issue of new shares 27(d) 255,453 245,062 – – – – – – – 500,515

Rights issue 27(f) 296,111 – – – – – – – – 296,111

Capital reorganisation 27(g) (710,667) – – – – 710,667 – – – –

Share issue expenses 27 – (19,915) – – – – – – – (19,915)
           

At 31 March 2008  213,167 694,592* – 1,177* 3,046* 1,029,780* 440* –* (681,238)* 1,260,964
           

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,047,797,000 (2007: HK$464,797,000) in the 

consolidated balance sheet.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 March 2008

  2008 2007
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING

 ACTIVITIES#

Loss before tax  (366,275) (225,892)

Adjustments for:

 Finance costs 7 4,501 27,445

 Share of losses of jointly-controlled entities  – 4,028

 Interest income on a convertible bond 5 (241) –

 Bank interest income not included in revenue 5 (7,644) (255)

 Depreciation 6 3,774 4,277

 Fair value losses/(gains) on investments at fair

  value through profit or loss, net  404,401 (18,035)

 Impairment of interests in jointly-controlled 

  entities 16 – 15,972

 Gain on disposal of items of property, 

  plant and equipment 5 (80) (510)

 Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries  (6,877) 410

 Loss on disposal of an investment property 6 – 620

 Changes in fair value of investment 

  properties, net 14 (1,900) 2,976

 Impairment of loans receivable 6 4,000 10,000

 Impairment of loans receivable reversed 6 (7,000) (3,750)

 Impairment of loan interest receivables 6 – 435

 Impairment of an available-for-sale investment 6 5,757 –

 Losses on redemption of convertible notes 6 – 5,569

 Equity-settled share option expenses 28 – 6,645

 Fair value gain on option derivatives, net 5 (59) –

 Fair value gain on a derivative 

  financial instrument 5 – (195)

 Loss on disposal of available-for-sale 

  investments, net 6 – 24,411

 Impairment of a loan to an investee company 6 – 49,838

 Write-down of an available-for-sale investment 6 – 25
   

  32,357 (95,986)

Increase in investments at fair value 

 through profit or loss  (409,833) (18,102)

Increase in loans receivable  (272,719) (101,650)

Increase in prepayments, deposits and 

 other receivables  (8,261) (2,887)

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals  (31,340) 19,703

Decrease in other deposits  – 2,450
   

Cash used in operations  (689,796) (196,472)
   

# Included in “Cash flows from operating activities” above are interest and dividends received from the 

Group’s principal activities amounting to HK$19,548,000 (2007: HK$26,907,000) and HK$1,430,000 (2007: 

HK$4,653,000), respectively.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 March 2008

  2008 2007
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash used in operations  (689,796) (196,472)

Interest received  7,644 255

Interest paid  (4,501) (5,619)

Hong Kong profits tax refunded/(paid)  (513) 50
   

Net cash outflow from operating activities  (687,166) (201,786)
   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant and

 equipment  (2,392) (4,695)

Proceeds from disposal of items of property, 

 plant and equipment  608 754

Purchase of a convertible bond 20 (18,000) –

Disposal of subsidiaries 30(a) 16,916 478

Acquisition of a subsidiary 30(b) – (44,100)

Proceeds from disposal of an investment property  – 10,280

Acquisition of jointly-controlled entities 16 – (20,000)

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale 

 investments  – 22,811
   

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (2,868) (34,472)
   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from rights issue of shares 27 296,111 –

Proceeds from placement/allotment of new shares 27 500,515 –

Proceeds from warrants/options exercised  – 30,558

Share issue expenses 27 (19,915) –

Drawdown of bank borrowings  – 105,000

Drawdown of other borrowings  6,862 –

Repayment of other borrowings  (6,862) –

Repayment of bank borrowings  (9,200) (54,693)

Redemption of convertible notes  – (45,000)

Issue of convertible notes  – 290,993
   

Net cash inflow from financing activities  767,511 326,858
   

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH

  EQUIVALENTS  77,477 90,600

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  127,695 37,095
   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  205,172 127,695
   

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND

 CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances  205,172 127,695
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Balance Sheet
31 March 2008

  2008 2007
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Interests in subsidiaries 15 1,164,891 729,364
   

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments and other receivables 22 829 780

Cash and bank balances  202,020 127,441
   

Total current assets  202,849 128,221
   

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals  3,092 2,593

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 23 5,170 3,325
   

Total current liabilities  8,262 5,918
   

NET CURRENT ASSETS  194,587 122,303
   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,359,478 851,667
   

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 23 10,488 16,634

Convertible notes 24 – 27,810
   

Total non-current liabilities  10,488 44,444
   

Net assets  1,348,990 807,223
   

EQUITY

Issued capital 27 213,167 348,270

Equity component of convertible notes 29(b) – 4,419

Reserves 29(b) 1,135,823 454,534
   

Total equity  1,348,990 807,223
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 March 2008

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Heritage International Holdings Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The principal place 

of business of the Company is located at 32nd Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong 

Kong.

During the year, the Group was primarily involved in property investment, investments in securities, money lending 

and investment holding.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 

(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), 

accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment 

properties, derivative financial instruments and certain investments, which have been measured at fair value. These 

financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except 

when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2008. The results of subsidiaries are 

consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be 

consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All significant intercompany transactions and balances within 

the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

The acquisition of a subsidiary has been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. This method 

involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, and 

liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the 

aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the 

date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial 

statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to new and revised accounting policies and additional disclosures, 

the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs has had no material effect on these financial statements.

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

HKAS 1 Amendment Capital Disclosures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

This standard requires disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the significance 

of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial 

instruments. The new disclosures are included throughout the financial statements. While there has been 

no effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Group, comparative information has been 

included/revised where appropriate.
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(b) Amendment to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures

This amendment requires the Group to make disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to 

evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. These new disclosures are 

shown in note 37 to the financial statements.

(c) HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

This interpretation requires HKFRS 2 to be applied to any arrangement in which the Group cannot 

identify specifically some or all of the goods or services received, for which equity instruments are 

granted or liabilities (based on a value of the Group’s equity instruments) are incurred by the Group for a 

consideration, and which appears to be less than the fair value of the equity instruments granted or liabilities 

incurred. As the Company has only issued equity instruments to the Group’s employees and an investment 

advisor for identified services provided in accordance with the Company’s share option scheme, the 

interpretation has had no effect on these financial statements.

(d) HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

This interpretation requires that the date to assess whether an embedded derivative is required to be 

separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative is the date that the Group first becomes a 

party to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to the contract that significantly modifies 

the cash flows. As the Group’s existing policy of accounting for derivatives complies with the requirements 

of the interpretation, the interpretation has had no material impact on the financial position or results of 

operations of the Group.

(e) HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The Group has adopted this interpretation as of 1 April 2007, which requires that an impairment loss 

recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity 

instrument classified as available-for-sale or a financial asset carried at cost is not subsequently reversed. As 

the Group had no impairment losses previously reversed in respect of such assets, the interpretation has had 

no material impact on the financial position or results of operations of the Group.

(f) HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to the Group’s equity 

instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the Group acquires the instruments 

from another party, or the shareholders provide the equity instruments needed. HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 also 

addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions involving two or more entities within the 

Group. As the Group currently has no such transactions, the interpretation has had no material impact on the 

financial position or results of operations of the Group.
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in 

these financial statements.

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment – 

  Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 1

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations 4

HKFRS 8  Operating Segments 1

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements 1

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs 1

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements4

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: 

 Amendments  Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of 

  Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments  

  and Obligations Arising on Liquidation 1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements 3

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 2

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 

  Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

The amended HKFRS 2 restricts the definition of “vesting condition” to a condition that includes an explicit or 

implicit requirement to provide services. Any other conditions are non-vesting conditions, which have to be taken 

into account to determine the fair value of the equity instruments granted. In the case that the award does not vest as 

a result of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition that is within the control of either the entity or the counterparty, 

this must be accounted for as a cancellation. The Group currently has no share-based payment arrangement with 

non-vesting conditions attached.

HKFRS 3 has been revised to introduce a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations that will 

impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future 

reported results. The changes introduced by the revised standard must be applied prospectively and will affect future 

acquisitions and transactions with minority interests.

HKFRS 8, which will replace HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifies how an entity should report information 

about its operating segments, based on information about the components of the entity that is available to the chief 

operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance. 

The standard also requires the disclosure of information about the products and services provided by the segments, 

the geographical areas in which the Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major customers. The Group 

expects to adopt HKFRS 8 from 1 April 2009.

The revised HKAS 1 separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity will 

include only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. 

In addition, the revised standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of income 

and expense recognised in profit or loss, together with all other items of recognised income and expense, either 

in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The Group is still evaluating whether it will have one or two 

statements.

HKAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs are directly attributable to 

the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. As the Group’s current policy for borrowing costs 

aligns with the requirements of the revised standard, the revised standard is unlikely to have any financial impact on 

the Group.
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HKAS 27 has been revised to require a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary to be accounted for as an 

equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. 

Furthermore, the revised standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of 

control of a subsidiary. The changes introduced by the revised standard must be applied prospectively and will affect 

future acquisitions and transactions with minority interests.

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 Amendments are relevant to entities that have issued financial instruments that are puttable 

financial instruments; or components of instruments that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another 

party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on liquidation. In accordance with the amendments, even 

if the above-mentioned financial instruments impose on the entity an obligation to deliver cash or another financial 

asset, these instruments should be classified as equity instruments if certain specified conditions are met.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 requires an operator under public-to-private service concession arrangements to recognise 

the consideration received or receivable in exchange for the construction services as a financial asset and/or an 

intangible asset, based on the terms of the contractual arrangements. HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 also addresses how an 

operator shall apply existing HKFRSs to account for the obligations and the rights arising from service concession 

arrangements by which a government or a public sector entity grants a contract for the construction of infrastructure 

used to provide public services and/or for the supply of public services. As the Group currently has no such 

arrangements, the interpretation is unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 requires that loyalty award credits granted to customers as part of a sales transaction are 

accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction. The consideration received in the sales transaction 

is allocated between the loyalty award credits and the other components of the sale. The amount allocated to the 

loyalty award credits is determined by reference to their fair value and is deferred until the awards are redeemed or 

the liability is otherwise extinguished.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 addresses how to assess the limit under HKAS 19 Employee Benefits, on the amount of a refund 

or a reduction in future contributions in relation to a defined benefit scheme that can be recognised as an asset, in 

particular, when a minimum funding requirement exists.

As the Group currently has no customer loyalty award credits and defined benefit scheme, HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 and 

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 are not applicable to the Group and therefore are unlikely to have any financial impact on the 

Group.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial 

application but is not yet in a position to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have a significant 

impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to 

obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends received and 

receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties undertake an 

economic activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group and the other parties have an 

interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, 

the duration of the joint venture entity and the basis on which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution. 

The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the 

venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint 

venture agreement.
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A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or 

indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally 

not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position to exercise significant 

influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, 

less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to 

exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint control, resulting in none of the participating 

parties having unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entities are stated in the consolidated balance sheet at the Group’s share 

of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-

acquisition results and reserves of jointly-controlled entities is included in the consolidated income statement and 

consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and 

its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the jointly-controlled entities, 

except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from 

the acquisition of jointly-controlled entities is included as part of the Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entities. 

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities represents the excess of the cost of 

the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, 

and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset, initially measured at cost 

and subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. In the case of jointly-controlled entities, goodwill 

is included in the carrying amount thereof, rather than as a separately identified asset on the consolidated balance 

sheet.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of 

goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, 

from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, 

that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities 

of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating 

units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-

generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised 

for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation 

within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 

amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in 

this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-

generating unit retained.



APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

I – 17

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than 

financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s 

recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs 

to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 

independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for 

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An 

impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount 

is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has 

been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher 

than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the 

period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under 

common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it significant influence over the 

Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d);

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for which 

significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d) or 

(e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity 

that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The 

cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of 

bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of 

property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged 

to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that 

the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of 

an item of property, plant and equipment, and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is 

capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.
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Changes in the fair values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation 

reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the 

deficit is charged to the income statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the income statement 

to the extent of the deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset 

revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to accumulated losses as a movement in 

reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as 

follows:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms

Leasehold improvements 20%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20%

Motor vehicles 25% – 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated 

on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 

sheet date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in 

the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 

relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under an operating lease 

for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income 

and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the supply of services or for administrative purposes; or for 

sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at 

the balance sheet date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the income statement 

in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income statement 

in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties, the deemed cost of a property for 

subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an 

owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance 

with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and 

any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a 

revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, 

are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at 

the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest 

element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included in property, 

plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

The finance costs of such leases are charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of 

charge over the lease terms.
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Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for 

as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating leases are included 

in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income statement on the 

straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the 

straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and 

buildings elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in 

property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, 

they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 

attributable transaction costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when the Group first becomes a party to it 

and assesses whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from the host contract when the analysis 

shows that the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to those of the 

host contract. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies 

the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and 

appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the 

Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 

assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the 

marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are 

classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including 

separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective 

hedging instruments or financial guarantee contracts. Gains or losses on these financial assets are recognised in 

the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the income statement does not include any 

dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out 

for “Revenue recognition” below.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a 

financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative does not significantly 

modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 

allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 

and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are 

recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 

the amortisation process.
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Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities that are 

designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the other two categories. After initial recognition, 

available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with gains or losses recognised as a separate 

component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at 

which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the income statement. Interest 

and dividends earned are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively, and are recognised in the 

income statement as “Other income” in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below. 

Losses arising from the impairment of such investments are recognised in the income statement as “Impairment 

losses on available-for-sale financial assets” and are transferred from the available-for-sale investment revaluation 

reserve.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range 

of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates 

within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost 

less any impairment losses.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to 

quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. For investments where there is no active 

market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length 

market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same; a 

discounted cash flow analysis; and other valuation models.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been 

incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 

financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The 

carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The amount 

of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. Loans and receivables together with any associated 

allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or 

has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 

to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

by adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income 

statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to loans and other receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence 

(such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and significant changes in 

the technological, market economic or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the Group 

will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice. The carrying amount of 

the receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are 

assessed as uncollectible.
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Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 

carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at 

the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal 

payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the income 

statement, is transferred from equity to the income statement. A provision for impairment is made for available-

for-sale equity investments when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost 

or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” or ‘’prolonged” 

requires judgement. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, such as the share price volatility. Impairment 

losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

derecognised where:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

• the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them 

in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially 

all the risks and rewards of the assets, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is 

recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the 

form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset 

and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option 

or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of 

the transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except in the case of a written put option (including a cash-

settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, where the extent of the Group’s continuing 

involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including other payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially stated at fair 

value less directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 

interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 

amortisation process.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 

liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. 

Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are 

designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the 

income statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the income statement does not include any interest 

charged in these financial liabilities.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a 

financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative does not significantly 

modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the following 

criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 

otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the 

liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair 

value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial liability contains an 

embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39 are accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial 

guarantee contract is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee contract, except when such contract is recognised at fair value through 

profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: 

(i) the amount determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; 

and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance 

with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Convertible notes

The component of convertible notes that exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in the 

balance sheet, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible notes, the fair value of the liability component 

is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible note; and this amount is carried as a long term 

liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds 

is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of transaction 

costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction costs are 

apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible notes based on the allocation of proceeds 

to the liability and equity components when the instruments are first recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 

derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective 

carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 

instruments. They are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as 

liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are 

taken directly to the income statement.
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Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 

demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, 

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months 

when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 

management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term 

deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and 

it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the balance 

sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted 

present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax, Income tax is recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it 

relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and jointly-

controlled entities, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 

probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and 

unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and jointly-

controlled entities, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 

differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 

temporary differences can be utilised.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 

utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 

deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 

asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 

authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue 

can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(b) income from the sale of equity securities, on a trade-date basis;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established; and

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts 

the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying 

amount of the financial asset.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible 

participants (including the Company’s directors and other employees of the Group and of the investee entities and 

any consultant, advisor or agent engaged by any member of the Group or any investee entity) who render services 

and/or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) and an investment 

advisor of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees/

advisors render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 

they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, 

further details of which are given in note 28 to the financial statements. In valuing equity-settled transactions, 

no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the 

Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 

period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 

employees/investment advisor become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense 

recognised for equity-settled transactions at each balance sheet date until the vesting date reflects the extent to 

which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 

ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a period represents the movement in the cumulative 

expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 

a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, 

provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.
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Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had 

not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, which increases the total fair value of 

the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee/investment advisor as measured at 

the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 

expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for 

the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new 

awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per 

share.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has applied 

HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested by 1 April 2005 and to 

those granted on or after 1 April 2005.

Other employee benefits

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF 

Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees. 

Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income 

statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF 

Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer 

contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially 

recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance 

sheet date. All differences are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 

historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 

when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of an overseas subsidiary and certain overseas jointly-controlled entities are currencies 

other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated 

into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date, and their 

income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The 

resulting exchange differences are included in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the 

deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the 

income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of an overseas subsidiary are translated into 

Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the 

overseas subsidiary which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average 

exchange rate for the period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 

contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 

in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in 

the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart 

from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements:

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has 

determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out 

on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria in making 

that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, 

the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by the 

Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is 

held for use in the supply of services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately (or 

leased out separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not 

be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the supply 

of services or for administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a 

property does not qualify as an investment property.

Impairment of available-for-sale investments

For available-for-sale investments, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost is considered to be an 

objective evidence of impairment. Judgement is required when determining whether a decline in fair value has been 

significant or prolonged. In making this judgement, the historical data on market volatility as well as the price of 

the specific investment are taken into account. The Group also considers other factors, such as industry and sector 

performance and financial information regarding the issuer.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, 

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of loans receivable

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated losses arising from the inability of its borrowers to 

make the required payments. The Group makes its estimates based on the ageing of its loan receivable 

balances, borrowers’ creditworthiness, repayment history, historical write-off experience and other relevant 

information. If the financial condition of its borrowers was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss 

might be higher than expected, the Group would be required to revise the basis of making the allowance and 

its future results would be affected.
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(b) Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and recognises movements of their fair values 

in equity. When the fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value to 

determine whether there is an impairment that should be recognised in the income statement. During the 

year, an impairment loss of HK$5,757,000 has been recognised for an available-for-sale investment (2007: 

Nil). The carrying amount of available-for-sale investments at 31 March 2008 was HK$9,130,000 (2007: 

HK$8,719,000).

(c) Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation 

of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in 

use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit 

and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. More 

details are given in note 16.

(d) Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the balance sheet at their fair value. The fair value was based on a 

valuation on these properties conducted by an independent firm of professional valuers using property 

valuation techniques which involve making assumptions on certain market conditions. Favourable or 

unfavourable changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s 

investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the gain or loss recognised in the income 

statement.

(e) Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each 

reporting date. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times when 

such indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that 

the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management 

must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable 

discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

(f) Income taxes

Significant management judgements on the future tax treatment of certain transactions are required in 

determining income tax provisions. The Company carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and 

tax provisions are made accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to 

take into account all changes in tax legislation.

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of the Group’s primary segment reporting basis, by business segment. In 

determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the segments based on the location of 

the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the assets. No further geographical 

segment information is presented as over 90% of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in Hong 

Kong, and over 90% of the Group’s assets are located in Hong Kong.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately according to the nature of their operations 

and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a strategic business 

unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of the other 

business segments. Summary details of the business segments are as follows:

(i) the property investment segment engages primarily in the investments in commercial and residential 

properties for rental income potential and/or appreciation in values;
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(ii) the investments in securities segment engages in the purchase and sale of securities and the holding of 

equity investments primarily for interest income, dividend income and capital appreciation;

(iii) the money lending segment engages in money lending operations in Hong Kong; and

(iv) the investment holding segment engages in holding investments for a continuing strategic or long term 

purpose, primarily for dividend income and capital appreciation.

There were no material intersegment sales and transfers during the year (2007: Nil).

(a) Business segments

The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and certain asset, liability and expenditure information 

for the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007.

Group
 Property Investments  Investment
 investment in securities Money lending holding Eliminations Consolidated
 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    (Restated)    (Restated)

Segment revenue
Revenue from external 

 customers 8,593 7,961 23,624 (115,279) 19,548 26,907 – – – – 51,765 (80,411)

Other revenue and gains 220 331 622 1,626 5 4 315 195 – – 1,162 2,156
            

Total 8,813 8,292 24,246 (113,653) 19,553 26,911 315 195 – – 52,927 (78,255)
            

Segment results 7,074 5,350 (380,531) (126,734) 22,072 20,317 (9,549) (70,927) – – (360,934) (171,994)
          

Unallocated other 

 income and gains           7,718 789

Unallocated expenses           (8,558) (7,242)

Finance costs           (4,501) (27,445)

Impairment of interests 

 in jointly-controlled 

 entities           – (15,972)

Share of losses of

 jointly-controlled entities           – (4,028)
            

Loss before tax           (366,275) (225,892)

Tax           (1,476) (2,553)
            

Loss for the year           (367,751) (228,445)
            

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 153,562 169,188 368,663 353,901 578,466 311,870 26,124 19,389 – – 1,126,815 854,348

Unallocated assets           228,356 147,884
            

Total assets           1,355,171 1,002,232
            

Segment liabilities 674 987 – 33,394 – – 136 632 – – 810 35,013

Unallocated liabilities           93,397 149,733
            

Total liabilities           94,207 184,746
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Group
 Property Investments  Investment
 investment in securities Money lending holding Eliminations Consolidated
 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    (Restated)    (Restated)

Other segment information:
Depreciation – unallocated           (3,774) (4,277)

Impairment of interests

 in jointly-controlled

 entities – unallocated           – (15,972)

Loss on disposal of 

 available-for-sale 

 investments, net – – – – – – – (24,411) – – – (24,411)

Gain on disposal of items

 of property, plant and

 equipment – unallocated           80 510

Gain on disposal of a

 subsidiary – allocated 3,284 – – – – – – – – – 3,284 –

Gain/(loss) on disposal 

 of subsidiaries – unallocated           3,593 (410)
            

           6,877 (410)
            

Loss on disposal of an 

 investment property – (620) – – – – – – – – – (620)

Impairment of an

 available-for-sale

 investment – – – – – – (5,757) – – – (5,757) –

Share-based payments –

 unallocated           – 6,645

Gains/(losses) arising 

 from changes in fair 

 value of investment

 properties, net 1,900 (2,976) – – – – – – – – 1,900 (2,976)

Fair value gains/(losses)

 on investments at fair value

 through profit or loss, net – – (404,401) 18,035 – – – – – – (404,401) 18,035

Impairment of a loan to 

 an investee company – – – – – – – (49,838) – – – (49,838)

Impairment of loans receivable – – – – (4,000) (10,000) – – – – (4,000) (10,000)

Impairment of loans 

 receivable reversed – – – – 7,000 3,750 – – – – 7,000 3,750

Impairment of loan 

 interest receivables – – – – – (435) – – – – – (435)

Losses on redemption of

 convertible notes – unallocated           – (5,569)

Capital expenditure – allocated – 48,676 – – – – – – – – – 48,676

Capital expenditure –

 unallocated amounts           2,392 4,695
            

           2,392 53,371
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents gross rental income received and receivable from investment 

properties; interest income earned from money lending operations; dividend income from equity investments; and a 

gain/(loss) on sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss, net, during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000
  (Restated)

Revenue
Gross rental income from investment properties 8,593 7,961

Interest income from money lending operations 19,548 26,907

Dividend income from investments at fair value

 through profit or loss 1,430 4,653

Gain/(loss) on sale of investments at fair

 value through profit or loss, net* 22,194 (119,932)
  

 51,765 (80,411)
  

Other income and gains
Fair value gain on a derivative financial instrument – 195

Fair value gain on option derivatives, net 59 –

Interest income on a convertible bond 241 –

Bank interest income 7,644 255

Gain on disposal of items of property, 

 plant and equipment 80 510

Others 856 1,985
  

 8,880 2,945
  

* Represents the proceeds from the sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss of 

HK$1,252,241,000 (2007: HK$492,079,000) less the cost of sales and carrying amount of the investments 

sold of HK$1,230,047,000 (2007: HK$612,011,000).

In the prior year’s financial statements, the Group separately presented the proceeds from the sale of investments at 

fair value through profit or loss as “revenue” and the cost of investments at fair value through profit or loss disposed 

of as “cost of sales and carrying amount of equity investments sold”. During the current year, the Group changed its 

presentation to present the gain/loss on sale of investments at fair value through profits or loss as “revenue” on the 

net basis as, in the opinion of the directors, it would result in a more appropriate presentation of the revenue of the 

Group.

The effect of this change in presentation was to decrease the “revenue” and the “cost of sales and carrying amount 

of equity investments sold” for the year ended 31 March 2008 by HK$492,079,000, representing the cost of 

investments at fair value through profit or loss disposed of during the current year.

This change in presentation has had no impact to the loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company.

To conform with the current year’s presentation, the cost of investments at fair value through profit or loss disposed 

of for the year ended 31 March 2007 of HK$612,011,000 has been reclassified from the “cost of sales and carrying 

amount of equity investments sold”, resulting in a decrease in the “revenue” and the “cost of sales and carrying 

amount of equity investments sold” for that year by the same amount. This has resulted in no change to the amount 

of the loss for that year attributable to equity holders of the Company, or accumulated losses as at 1 April 2006.
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

  2008 2007
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation 13 3,774 4,277

Employee benefits expense (excluding 

 directors’ remuneration (note 8)):
  Salaries and allowances  1,511 2,316

  Retirement benefits scheme contributions

   (defined contribution scheme)*  72 68
   

  1,583 2,384
   

Share-based payment paid to an investment advisor

 for investment advisory services  – 4,222

Auditors’ remuneration  1,760 1,550

Impairment of loans receivable**  4,000 10,000

Impairment of loans receivable reversed**  (7,000) (3,750)

Impairment of loan interest receivables**  – 435

Direct operating expenses arising on 

 rental-earning investment properties  1,036 1,033

Impairment of interests in jointly-

 controlled entities 16 – 15,972

Impairment of a loan to an investee company** 18 – 49,838

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale 

 investments, net  – 24,411

Loss on disposal of an investment property**  – 620

Loss on redemption of convertible notes**  – 5,569

Foreign exchange differences, net  (3) (36)

Impairment of an available-for-sale investment

 transferred from available-for-sale investment

 revaluation reserve**  5,757 –

Write-down of an available-for-sale investment**  – 25

Net rental income  (7,557) (6,928)
   

* At 31 March 2008, the Group had no material forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to 

the retirement benefits scheme in future years (2007: Nil).

** These items are included in “Other expenses, net” on the face of the consolidated income statement.
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7. FINANCE COSTS
 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:

 Bank loans not wholly repayable within five years 4,501 5,736

 Other borrowings wholly repayable within five years 20 312

 Convertible notes – 21,709
  

Total interest expense on financial liabilities

 not at fair value through profit or loss 4,521 27,757

Less: Interest expense included in gain/(loss) on sale

   of investments at fair value through profit or loss, net (20) (312)
  

Total finance costs for the year 4,501 27,445
  

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, is as follows:

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 454 392
  

Other emoluments:

 Salaries and allowances 6,060 4,530

 Employee share option benefits# – 2,423

 Retirement benefits scheme contributions (defined contribution scheme) 60 54
  

 6,120 7,007
  

 6,574 7,399
  

# During the year ended 31 March 2007, certain directors were granted share options with an aggregate fair 

value of approximately HK$2,423,000, in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option 

scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 28 to the financial statements. The 

fair value of such options which was recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, was 

determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the prior year was 

included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures in the prior year.
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(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Chan Sze Hung 120 120

Mr. Miu Frank H.* – 20

Mr. To Shing Chuen 120 120

Mr. Ha Kee Choy Eugene 120 120

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun 12 12

Mr. Lo Wong Fung** 82 –
  

 454 392
  

* Mr. Miu Frank H. resigned from his position as an independent non-executive director of the 

Company with effect from 2 June 2006.

** Mr. Lo Wong Fung was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company with 

effect from 26 July 2007.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2007: 

Nil).

(b) Executive directors
    Retirement
  Salaries Employee benefits
  and share option scheme Total
 Fees allowances benefits contributions remuneration
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2008
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing, Benny – 2,400 – 12 2,412

Ms. Lo Ki Yan, Karen* – 1,080 – 12 1,092

Mr. Ong Peter – 1,200 – 12 1,212

Ms. Poon Chi Wan – 780 – 12 792

Mr. Chow Chi Wah, Vincent** – 600 – 12 612
     

 – 6,060 – 60 6,120
     

2007
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing, Benny – 1,800 606 12 2,418

Ms. Lo Ki Yan, Karen* – 1,200 606 12 1,818

Mr. Ong Peter – 600 606 12 1,218

Ms. Poon Chi Wan – 660 605 12 1,277

Mr. Chow Chi Wah, Vincent** – 270 – 6 276
     

 – 4,530 2,423*** 54 7,007
     

* Ms. Lo Ki Yan, Karen resigned from her position as an executive director of the Company with 

effect from 18 March 2008.

** Mr. Chow Chi Wah, Vincent was appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect 

from 13 October 2006.
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*** During the year ended 31 March 2007, Mr. Kwong Kai Sing, Benny, Ms. Lo Ki Yan, Karen, Mr. 

Ong Peter and Ms. Poon Chi Wan were granted share options with an aggregate fair value of 

approximately HK$2,423,000.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included five (2007: four) directors, one of whom was appointed as 

a director of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2007, details of whose remuneration in the capacity as 

directors of the Company are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one non-director 

(before his appointment as a director), highest paid employee for the year ended 31 March 2007, are as follows:

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and allowances – 270

Retirement benefits scheme contributions

 (defined contribution scheme) – 6
  

 – 276
  

The remuneration of the non-director, highest paid employee for the year ended 31 March 2007 fell within the band 

of nil to HK$1,000,000.

10. TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2007: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits 

arising in Hong Kong during the year.

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Group:

 Current – Hong Kong 43 507

 Deferred (note 26) 1,433 2,046
  

Total tax charge for the year 1,476 2,553
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A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax using the Hong Kong statutory tax rate (the statutory 

tax rate of the principal place of business of the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries) to the tax charge at 

the effective tax rate is as follows:

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax (366,275) (225,892)
  

Tax credit at the Hong Kong statutory

 tax rate of 17.5% (2007: 17.5%) (64,098) (39,531)

Losses attributable to jointly-controlled entities – 3,500

Income not subject to tax (4,448) (1,439)

Expenses not deductible for tax 6,887 20,914

Tax losses utilised from previous periods (1,236) (3,488)

Tax losses not recognised 67,015 19,709

Others (2,644) 2,888
  

Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate 1,476 2,553
  

11. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2008 includes 

a loss of HK$4,734,000 (2007: HK$42,450,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the 

Company.

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts for the year is based on the loss for the year attributable 

to ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK$367,751,000 (2007: HK$228,445,000), and the weighted 

average number of 675,112,070 (2007: 583,804,422 (restated)) ordinary shares in issue during the year, as 

adjusted to reflect the rights issue, the consolidation of shares and the capital reorganisation during the year 

(note 27). The basic loss per share amount for the prior year has been adjusted to reflect the rights issue, the 

consolidation of shares and the capital reorganisation during the current year (note 27).

(b) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share amounts for the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007 have not been disclosed, as the 

share options, warrants and convertible notes outstanding during these years had an anti-dilutive effect on 

the basic loss per share for these years.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group
   Furniture,
 Leasehold Leasehold fixtures
 land and improve- and office Motor
 buildings ments equipment vehicles Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 March 2008

At 31 March 2007 and at 1 April 2007:

 Cost 21,015 2,218 3,834 9,981 37,048

 Accumulated depreciation (1,746) (763) (1,612) (2,185) (6,306)
     

 Net carrying amount 19,269 1,455 2,222 7,796 30,742
     

At 1 April 2007, net of accumulated 

 depreciation 19,269 1,455 2,222 7,796 30,742

Additions – – 2,392 – 2,392

Disposals – – (528) – (528)

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 30(a)) (10,608) (425) (1,485) – (12,518)

Depreciation provided during the year (783) (386) (310) (2,295) (3,774)
     

At 31 March 2008, net of

 accumulated depreciation 7,878 644 2,291 5,501 16,314
     

At 31 March 2008:

 Cost 9,415 1,595 3,727 9,981 24,718

 Accumulated depreciation (1,537) (951) (1,436) (4,480) (8,404)
     

 Net carrying amount 7,878 644 2,291 5,501 16,314
     

31 March 2007

At 1 April 2006:

 Cost 21,015 2,095 3,697 7,074 33,881

 Accumulated depreciation (698) (324) (1,103) (339) (2,464)
     

 Net carrying amount 20,317 1,771 2,594 6,735 31,417
     

At 1 April 2006, net of accumulated 

 depreciation 20,317 1,771 2,594 6,735 31,417

Additions – 123 959 3,613 4,695

Disposals – – – (244) (244)

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 30(a)) – – (621) (228) (849)

Depreciation provided during the year (1,048) (439) (710) (2,080) (4,277)
     

At 31 March 2007, net of

 accumulated depreciation 19,269 1,455 2,222 7,796 30,742
     

At 31 March 2007:

 Cost 21,015 2,218 3,834 9,981 37,048

 Accumulated depreciation (1,746) (763) (1,612) (2,185) (6,306)
     

 Net carrying amount 19,269 1,455 2,222 7,796 30,742
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The Group’s leasehold land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong and are held under long term leases. At the 

balance sheet date, the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to 

the Group (note 23).

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at beginning of year 168,600 133,800

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 30(b)) – 48,676

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 30(a)) (20,000) –

Disposals – (10,900)

Changes in fair value of investment properties, net 1,900 (2,976)
  

Carrying amount at 31 March 150,500 168,600
  

The Group’s investment properties are all situated in Hong Kong and are held under long term leases.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 March 2008 by Asset Appraisal Limited, independent 

professionally qualified valuers, at HK$150,500,000 (2007: HK$168,600,000) on an open market, existing use basis. 

The investment properties are currently or expected to be leased to third parties under operating leases, further 

summary details of which are included in note 32 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2008, the Group’s investment properties with an aggregate value of HK$150,500,000 

(2007: HK$168,600,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 23).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on page 124 of the Company’s annual report 

for the year ended 31 March 2008.

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
 Company
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 1 1

Due from subsidiaries 1,926,684 1,276,954

Due to subsidiaries – (57,140)
  

 1,926,685 1,219,815

Impairment* (761,794) (490,451)
  

 1,164,891 729,364
  

* Due to the dismal performance of certain subsidiaries, an impairment testing for amounts due therefrom was 

performed. An impairment was recognised for certain amounts due from those subsidiaries with a carrying 

amount of HK$1,926,684 (before deducting the impairment loss) (2007: HK$1,276,954,000) because the 

recoverable amount of these balances were lower than their carrying amounts.

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured. Except for an amount due from a subsidiary of HK$4,369,000 as at 

31 March 2007 which bore interest at 2% over the Hong Kong dollar prime rate as quoted by The Hongkong and 

Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (the “Prime Rate”) per annum and was fully repaid during the year, the 

balances are interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

  Nominal value
 Place of of issued Percentage of
 incorporation ordinary equity attributable Principal
Name and operations share capital to the Company activities
   Direct Indirect

Brilliant Crown Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 – 100 Holding of

     motor vehicles

Dollar Group Limited British Virgin US$1 – 100 Investments

 Islands/    in securities

 Hong Kong

Double Smart Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Money lending

Heritage Strategic Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100 Provision of

 Enterprises Limited     corporate

     services

Mass Nation Investments British Virgin US$1 – 100 Investment

 Limited Islands/    holding

 Hong Kong

Overseas Global Limited British Virgin US$1 – 100 Investment

 Islands/    holding

 Hong Kong

Planner Ford Limited Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Provision of

     corporate

     services

Prostar Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 – Provision of

     corporate

     services

Rightmind Developments British Virgin US$1 100 – Investment

 Limited Islands/    holding

 Hong Kong

Silver Target Limited British Virgin US$1 – 100 Property

 Islands/    investment

 Hong Kong

Wealth Champion Limited British Virgin US$1 – 100 Property

 Islands/    investment

 Hong Kong

Great Gains International Hong Kong HK$100 – 100 Property

 Limited     investment

Greater Chance Group Limited British Virgin US$1 – 100 Investment

 Islands/    holding

 Hong Kong
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  Nominal value
 Place of of issued Percentage of
 incorporation ordinary equity attributable Principal
Name and operations share capital to the Company activities
   Direct Indirect

High Heritage Group Limited British Virgin US$1 – 100 Property

 Islands/    investment

 Hong Kong

International Stamps & Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Holding of

 Coins Auction Limited     motor vehicles

Power Speed Limited British Virgin US$1 – 100 Investment

 Islands/    holding

 Hong Kong

Rainbow Fair Development Hong Kong HK$2 – 100 Holding of

 Limited     motor vehicles

Waytech Limited British Virgin US$1 – 100 Investment

 Islands/    holding

 Hong Kong

Easywin Cotai Entertainment British Virgin US$1 – 100 Provision of

 Limited Islands/    management

 Hong Kong    services

Wiseteam Assets Limited British Virgin US$100 – 100 Property

 Islands/    investment

 Hong Kong

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected 

the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other 

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows:

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning and end of year:

 Cost 2,688 2,688

 Accumulated impairment (2,688) (2,688)
  

 Net carrying amount – –
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16. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES
 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of investments in jointly-controlled entities 20,000 20,000

Share of post-acquisition losses (4,028) (4,028)
  

 15,972 15,972

Provision for impairment (15,972) (15,972)
  

 – –
  

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows:

   Percentage of
   ownership interest,
   voting power and
 Particulars of Place of profit sharing
 issued shares held/ incorporation/ attributable Principal
Name registered capital registration to the Group activities

New Range Investments Ordinary shares Hong Kong 20 Investment

 Limited (“New Range”)* of HK$1 each   holding

上海漢基新幹線投資 Registered People’s 20 Provision of

 諮詢有限公司*^ capital of Republic of  investment and

 RMB10,000,000 China (“PRC”)  management

    consultancy

    services

上海新幹線廣告 Registered PRC 20 Provision of

 有限公司*^ capital of   advertising and

  RMB1,000,000   related services

* Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

^ Subsidiaries of New Range.

All of the above investments in jointly-controlled entities are indirectly held by the Company.

The above jointly-controlled entities have been accounted for using the equity method in these financial statements.

On 28 June 2006, the Group entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”) to subscribe for a 20% equity interest in 

New Range (the “Acquisition”). Pursuant to the Agreement, within 18 months from the date of approval and due 

registration of a joint venture contract to be entered into between the shareholders of New Range in relation to their 

respective rights and obligations in New Range by the relevant government authorities and registration authorities, 

respectively, the Group would also have the rights to further increase its equity interest in New Range to 40% by 

injecting another HK$20 million into New Range.

The goodwill acquired through the Acquisition in the prior year of approximately HK$15,972,000 has been 

determined provisionally, pending the finalisation of the completion of the appraisal of certain intangible assets. 

During the current year, the allocation of the purchase price to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities acquired in this business combination has been determined and completed and the directors concluded that 

no adjustment to the provisional goodwill on the Acquisition is required.

The Group’s share of net liabilities and losses of the jointly-controlled entities was limited by its interests in the 

jointly-controlled entities as further explained below.
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The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of New Range and its subsidiaries because the 

share of losses of the jointly-controlled entities exceeded the Group’s interests in the jointly-controlled entities. 

The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of the jointly-controlled entities for the current year 

and cumulatively were approximately HK$371,000 (2007: HK$108,000) and HK$479,000 (2007: HK$108,000), 

respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group recognised provision for impairment of interests in jointly-

controlled entities of HK$15,972,000, based on an annual assessment of the recoverable amount for the cash-

generating unit specific to the jointly-controlled entities.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entities based 

on the consolidated financial statements of New Range for the year ended 31 March 2008 (not audited by Ernst & 

Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young global network):

  

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 191 1,793

Non-current assets 32 37

Current liabilities (2,528) (2,007)
  

Net liabilities (2,305) (177)
  

Revenue 742 18

Cost of sales (540) (16)

Other income 26 175
  

 228 177

Total expenses (2,085) (20,856)
  

Loss after tax (1,857) (20,679)
  

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity investment, at fair value:

 Not listed in Hong Kong 8,060 7,889

Unlisted investments, at cost 54,880 54,880

Less: Provision for impairment (54,880) (54,880)
  

 – –
  

Club membership debenture, at fair value 1,070 830
  

 9,130 8,719
  

During the year, the net fair value gain of HK$952,000 was recognised directly in equity (2007: net fair value loss 

of HK$4,345,000) and the amount of the impairment loss that was removed from equity and recognised in the 

income statement for the year amounted to HK$5,757,000 (2007: Nil). In the prior year, an aggregate amount of 

HK$53,424,000 was removed from equity and recognised in the income statement for the year upon the disposal of 

the related available-for-sale investment.

The above investments consist of investments which were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and have 

no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.
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The fair values of the listed equity investments and club membership debenture are based on their quoted market 

prices. For unlisted investments, as the directors are of the opinion that the variability in the range of reasonable fair 

value estimates for the unlisted investments is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates within the 

range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, these investments are stated at cost less any 

impairment losses. The Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.

Included in the available-for-sale investments of the Group as at 31 March 2008 is a beneficial interest in 20% of 

the nominal value of the issued share capital of an equity investee (the “Equity Investee”). The Equity Investee was 

not treated as an associate, because in the opinion of the directors, the Equity Investee was acquired and held with 

a view to ultimately realising the capital gain from subsequent disposal and the Group does not intend to exercise 

significant influence over the Equity Investee.

Particulars of the Equity Investee are as follows:

   Percentage of the
   nominal value of
   issued ordinary
 Place of Class of share capital held
Company name incorporation shares held by the Group
   2008 2007

Found Investments British Virgin Ordinary 20 20

 International Limited  Islands

 (formerly Found Macau 

 Investments International 

 Limited (“Found Investments”))

In July 2007, the Eastern Caribbean Supreme Court in the High Court of Justice of the British Virgin Islands ordered 

Found Investments to wind up and appointed liquidators to carry out the process. Full provision for impairment of 

the Group’s interest in Found Investments was made in the prior year.

18. IMPAIRMENT OF A LOAN TO AN INVESTEE COMPANY

In the prior year, there was a loan to Found Investments which was carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. Found Investments is an investment holding company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and 

it originally intended to directly or indirectly invest in gaming, entertainment and related businesses in Macau. The 

loan is unsecured, bears interest at an effective interest rate of approximately 10.2% per annum, and is repayable 

after eight years from 21 March 2005 (date of drawdown). Based on available evidence (including the liquidation 

in progress as further detailed in note 17 to the financial statements), full provision for impairment of the loan of 

HK$49,838,000 was made in the prior year. No interest income in respect of the loan was recognised in the current 

and prior years.

19. LOANS RECEIVABLE
 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans receivable 587,569 314,850

Less: Provision for impairment (14,000) (17,000)
  

 573,569 297,850

Less: Balances due within one year included in current assets (569,499) (296,850)
  

Non-current portion 4,070 1,000
  



APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

I – 43

Loans receivable as at 31 March 2008 represented receivables arising from the money lending business of the Group 

and bear interest at rates ranging from the Prime Rate to 24% per annum (2007: ranging from the Prime Rate to 

8% above the Prime Rate per annum), of which approximately HK$401 million were subsequently settled up to the 

date of approval of these financial statements. The granting of these loans has been approved and monitored by the 

Company’s executive directors in charge of the Group’s money lending operations.

The movements in provision for impairment of loans receivable are as follows:

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year 17,000 10,750

Impairment losses recognised (note 6) 4,000 10,000

Impairment losses reversed (note 6) (7,000) (3,750)
  

At end of year 14,000 17,000
  

Included in the above provision for impairment of loans receivable is a provision for individually impaired 

loans receivable of HK$14,000,000 (2007: HK$17,000,000) with a carrying amount of HK$18,000,000 (2007: 

HK$27,500,000). The individually impaired loans receivable relate to borrowers that were in financial difficulties 

and/or were in default or delinquency in principal payments and/or only a portion of the receivables is expected to 

be recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

An aged analysis of the loans receivable that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 569,569 287,350
  

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a sizable number of borrowers for whom there was 

no recent history of default. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no 

provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit 

quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit 

enhancements over these balances.

20. CONVERTIBLE BOND
 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted convertible bond:

 Loan portion 16,630 –

 Option derivatives, at fair value* 1,626 –
  

 18,256 –

  

* Represented net of conversion option derivative of HK$1,633,000 and redemption option derivative of 

HK$7,000.
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On 16 February 2008, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Subscriber”) entered into a 

conditional subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with Hang Fa Lau Holdings Limited (“Hang Fa 

Lau”), a private company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, for the subscription of a 2% convertible 

bond due 2011 with an aggregate principal amount of HK$18 million issued by Hang Fa Lau (the “Convertible 

Bond”), which will entitle the holder thereof to convert the principal amount outstanding into new fully paid 

ordinary shares of Hang Fa Lau (the “Conversion Shares”) at the then effective conversion price. The Convertible 

Bond is unsecured, bears interest at a rate of 2% per annum and will mature three years from the date of issue of 

the Convertible Bond (the “Maturity Date”). The initial conversion price is HK$1,800 per Conversion Share. The 

Convertible Bond does not contain any provisions for anti-dilution adjustments but provides that Hang Fa Lau may 

not create or issue any class of share capital, without the written approval of holder(s) of 51% of the aggregate 

principal amount of the Convertible Bond then outstanding.

The holder of the Convertible Bond has the right to convert, the whole or any part of the outstanding principal 

amount of the Convertible Bond into Conversion Shares at the then prevailing conversion price at any time on or 

after the issue of the Convertible Bond up to the close of business of the Maturity Date. Upon full conversion of 

the entire principal amount of the Convertible Bond by the Group at the initial conversion price of HK$1,800 per 

Conversion Share, the Group will be interested in 50% of the enlarged issued share capital of Hang Fa Lau.

Unless previously converted, redeemed or cancelled in accordance with the terms of the Convertible Bond, Hang 

Fa Lau will redeem the Convertible Bond on the Maturity Date at 124% of the principal amount of the Convertible 

Bond then outstanding. Hang Fa Lau may at any time on or before the Maturity Date redeem the whole or any part 

of the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bond at the following rates:

(i) if redemption is made on or before the first anniversary date from the issue date of the Convertible Bond, at 

108% of the principal amount of the Convertible Bond to be redeemed;

(ii) if redemption is made on or before the second anniversary date from the issue date of the Convertible Bond 

but after the first anniversary date from the issue date of the Convertible Bond, at 116% of the principal 

amount of the Convertible Bond to be redeemed; and

(iii) if redemption is made on or before the third anniversary date from the issue date of the Convertible Bond 

but after the second anniversary date from the issue date of the Convertible Bond, at 124% of the principal 

amount of the Convertible Bond to be redeemed.

During the year and as at 31 March 2008, none of the principal amount of the Convertible Bond was converted, 

redeemed or cancelled, and the aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Bond outstanding as at 31 March 2008 

amounted to HK$18 million.

Pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Agreement, so long as any Convertible Bond remains outstanding and 

registered in the name of the Subscriber, the Subscriber shall have the rights to appoint up to two directors to the 

board of Hang Fa Lau and to remove or substitute any of them by giving written notice to Hang Fa Lau. Further, 

on full conversion of the Convertible Bond, provided that the Group shall continue to hold not less than 50% of the 

issued share capital of Hang Fa Lau, the Group shall have the right to appoint up to 50% of the number of members 

of the board of Hang Fa Lau and to remove or substitute any of them by giving notice to Hang Fa Lau.

The fair values of the Convertible Bond’s option derivatives have been determined by Asset Appraisal Limited, 

independent professionally qualified valuers, using the binomial model.

The effective interest rate of the loan portion of the Convertible Bond as at 31 March 2008 was 12%.

On the same date of entering into the Subscription Agreement, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company 

also entered into a loan agreement with Hang Fa Lau to make available to Hang Fa Lau an unsecured revolving loan 

facility of up to HK$25 million, subject to and upon the terms and conditions contained in the loan agreement (the 

“Revolving Loan Facility”). The revolving loan would bear interest at 5% over the prime or best lending rate for 

Hong Kong dollar loans as quoted by The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited from time to time 

and is available from 16 February 2008 to the earlier of 15 February 2011 and the date on which the Revolving Loan 

Facility is cancelled or terminated under the provisions of the loan agreement. During the year and as at 31 March 

2008, none of the Revolving Loan Facility was utilised.
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Further details of the Convertible Bond and the Revolving Loan Facility are also set out in a circular of the 

Company dated 6 March 2008.

21. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity investments, at market value:

 Hong Kong 316,186 285,098

 Elsewhere 41,441 55,689
  

 357,627 340,787

Unlisted securities, at fair value – 11,408
  

 357,627 352,195
  

The above equity investments at 31 March 2008 and 2007 were classified as held for trading.

At 31 March 2008, the Group’s investments in listed equity securities with an aggregate carrying value at the 

balance sheet date of approximately HK$316,186,000 (2007: HK$285,098,000) were pledged to certain financial 

institutions to secure certain margin financing facilities provided to the Group (note 23).

The market value of the Group’s listed equity investments at the date of approval of these financial statements was 

approximately HK$259,842,000 (2007: HK$518,691,000).

At 31 March 2007, the carrying amount of the Group’s shareholding in the following listed equity securities 

exceeded 10% of the total assets of the Group. Such investment was disposed of during the year.

    Interest held by the
    Group as
   Particulars investments at
 Place of Principal of issued fair value through
Company name incorporation activities share capital profit or loss

Yugang International Bermuda Trading of metal Ordinary shares 4.1%

 Limited  commodities and  of HK$0.01

  other materials;  each

  treasury investment; 

  and property and

  other investments

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Group Company
 2008 2007 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 931 1,299 653 604

Deposits 682 725 – –

Other receivables 22,990 14,407 176 176
    

 24,603 16,431 829 780
    

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above balances relate to 

receivables for which there was no recent history of default.
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

 Contractual Group Company
 interest rate Maturity 2008 2007 2008 2007
  (%)  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current
Bank loans – secured HIBOR^+1.25 2008 1,872 1,872 – –

Bank loans – secured HIBOR^+1.50 2008 5,170 3,173 5,170 3,173

Bank loans – secured Prime*-2.25 2008 – 399 – 152

Bank loans – secured Prime*-2.50 2008 994 835 – –

Bank loans – secured 5.10 2008 2,298 2,091 – –

Bank loans – secured Prime*-2.80 2008 – 904 – –
      

   10,334 9,274 5,170 3,325
      

Non-current
Bank loans – secured HIBOR^+1.25 2021 23,164 25,036 – –

Bank loans – secured HIBOR^+1.50 2010 10,488 15,658 10,488 15,658

Bank loans – secured Prime*-2.25 2013 – 976 – 976

Bank loans – secured Prime*-2.25 2025 – 7,692 – –

Bank loans – secured Prime*-2.50 2018 10,631 11,649 – –

Bank loans – secured 5.10 2018 24,389 26,570  –

Bank loans – secured Prime*-2.80 2018 – 12,527 – –
      

   68,672 100,108 10,488 16,634
      

   79,006 109,382 15,658 19,959
      

^ Denotes the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate.

* Represents the Hong Kong dollar prime lending rate as quoted by the Bank of East Asia Limited.

All the borrowings of the Group and the Company are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

 Group Company
 2008 2007 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed into:

 Bank loans repayable:

  Within one year 10,334 9,274 5,170 3,325

  In the second year 12,417 11,312 7,162 5,331

  In the third to fifth 

   years, inclusive 22,256 27,068 3,326 7,705

  Beyond five years 33,999 61,728 – 3,598
    

 79,006 109,382 15,658 19,959
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Notes:

(a) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land and buildings situated in Hong Kong, which had 

an aggregate carrying value at the balance sheet date of approximately HK$7,878,000 (2007: 

HK$19,269,000);

(ii) mortgages over the Group’s investment properties situated in Hong Kong, which had an 

aggregate carrying value at the balance sheet date of approximately HK$150,500,000 (2007: 

HK$168,600,000);

(iii) a corporate guarantee given by the Company up to HK$112,000,000 (2007: HK$91,260,000) as at 

the balance sheet date; and

(iv) a personal guarantee to the extent of HK$19,000,000 as at 31 March 2007 given by a substantial 

beneficial shareholder of the Company. The guarantee was released upon the repayment of the 

relevant loan during the year.

(b) The Group’s investments in listed equity securities with an aggregate carrying value at the balance sheet 

date of approximately HK$316,186,000 (2007: HK$285,098,000) were pledged to certain financial 

institutions to secure certain margin financing facilities provided to the Group which were not utilised as at 

31 March 2008 and 2007 (note 21).

24. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 6 April 2006, the Company issued redeemable convertible notes with an aggregate principal amount of HK$300 

million (the “2006 CNs”) to independent third parties. The 2006 CNs were unsecured, non-interest-bearing and 

would mature on 5 April 2009. The 2006 CNs were convertible at the option of the noteholders into the Company’s 

ordinary shares at a conversion price of HK$0.025 per share in amounts or integral multiples of HK$500,000 at 

any time from the date of issue up to seven days prior to (and excluding) the maturity date of the 2006 CNs. The 

Company would repay the 2006 CNs’ holders on the maturity date at 120% of the outstanding principal amount of 

the 2006 CNs. In addition, the 2006 CNs’ holders would be able to require the Company to redeem the 2006 CNs at 

110% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2006 CNs during a period commencing from the first anniversary 

of the date of issue of the 2006 CNs to a day falling seven days after the first anniversary of the date of issue of the 

2006 CNs. During the prior year, certain 2006 CNs with an aggregate principal amount of HK$225 million were 

converted into 9,000,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.02 each at a conversion price of HK$0.025 

per share (note 27(a)), and certain 2006 CNs with an aggregate principal amount of HK$45 million were redeemed 

by the Company. During the current year, the remaining 2006 CNs with an aggregate principal amount of HK$30 

million were converted into 1,200 million ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.02 each at a conversion price of 

HK$0.025 per share (note 27(c)), and hence, no 2006 CNs were outstanding as at 31 March 2008.

The fair value of the liability component was estimated at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest rate 

for a similar note without a conversion option. The residual amount was assigned as the equity component and was 

included in shareholders’ equity.



APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

I – 48

The convertible notes issued during the prior year were split as to the liability and equity components, as follows:

 Group and
 Company
 HK$’000

Nominal value of convertible notes issued during 

 the year ended 31 March 2007 300,000

Equity component (45,560)

Direct transaction costs attributable to the liability component (7,639)
 

Liability component at the issuance date 246,801

Interest expense 21,709

Conversion during the year (199,942)

Redemption during the year (40,758)
 

Liability component at 31 March 2007 and at 1 April 2007 27,810

Conversion during the year (27,810)
 

At 31 March 2008 –
 

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Buy-back option – 557
  

The derivative financial instrument at 31 March 2007 represented the fair value of an option granted by the Group to 

an independent third party, from whom the Group acquired an available-for-sale investment during the year ended 31 

March 2006, to buy back certain interest in that equity investment at a pre-determined price of NT$5.8 exercisable 

within a five-day period commencing from 6 January 2008. The fair value of the option was reassessed at the 

balance sheet date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Changes in the fair value of the option amounting 

to HK$195,000 were credited to the income statement during the year ended 31 March 2007. The option was expired 

during the year.
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26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows:

Group
 

 2008
 Depreciation
 allowance in
 excess of
 related Revaluation
 depreciation of properties Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year – 8,353 8,353

Deferred tax charged to the income statement 

 during the year (note 10) 1,100 333 1,433

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 30(a)) – (416) (416)
   

Gross deferred tax liabilities recognised in

 the consolidated balance sheet at end of year 1,100 8,270 9,370
   

 2007
 Depreciation
 allowance in
 excess of
 related Revaluation
 depreciation of properties Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year – 6,307 6,307

Deferred tax charged to the income 

 statement during the year (note 10) – 2,046 2,046
   

Gross deferred tax liabilities recognised 

 in the consolidated balance 

 sheet at end of year – 8,353 8,353
   

At 31 March 2008, the Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$503,022,000 (2007: 

HK$127,144,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available 

indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose arising in Hong 

Kong. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in companies 

that have been loss-making for some time or due to the unpredictability of future taxable profit streams of those 

companies, and accordingly, in the opinion of the directors, it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares
 Company
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

 10,000,000,000 (2007: 25,000,000,000) ordinary 

  shares of HK$0.10 (2007: HK$0.02) each 1,000,000 500,000
  

Issued and fully paid:

 2,131,667,916 (2007: 17,413,481,943) ordinary 

  shares of HK$0.10 (2007: HK$0.02) each 213,167 348,270
  

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued ordinary shares capital and share premium account is as 

follows:

   Issued Share
  Number of share premium
  shares in issue capital account Total
 Notes  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2006  7,134,081,943 142,682 387,885 530,567

Conversion of 2006 CNs (a) 9,000,000,000 180,000 61,043 241,043

Share options exercised (b) 1,279,400,000 25,588 12,289 37,877
     

At 31 March 2007 and

 at 1 April 2007  17,413,481,943 348,270 461,217 809,487

Conversion of 2006 CNs (c) 1,200,000,000 24,000 8,228 32,228

Placement of new shares (d) 4,426,530,000 255,453 245,062 500,515

Share consolidation (e) (16,762,785,555) – – –

Rights issue (f) 2,961,113,194 296,111 – 296,111

Capital reorganisation (g) (7,106,671,666) (710,667) – (710,667)

Share issue expenses  – – (19,915) (19,915)
     

At 31 March 2008  2,131,667,916 213,167 694,592 907,759
     

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2007, 9,000,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company 

were issued upon the conversion of the 2006 CNs with face values aggregating HK$225,000,000 at a 

conversion price of HK$0.025 per share as further detailed in note 24 to the financial statements.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2007, the subscription rights attaching to 566,000,000 share options 

granted to certain directors of the Company during that year were exercised at a subscription price of 

HK$0.025 per share (note 28), resulting in the issue of 566,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the 

Company for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately HK$14,150,000.

The subscription rights attaching to 713,400,000 share options granted to an investment advisor of the 

Company during the prior year were exercised at a subscription price of HK$0.023 per share, resulting in 

the issue of 713,400,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company for a total cash consideration, 

before expenses, of approximately HK$16,408,000.

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2008, 1,200,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company 

were issued upon the conversion of the 2006 CNs with face values aggregating HK$30,000,000 at a 

conversion price of HK$0.025 per share as further detailed in note 24 to the financial statements.
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(d) During the year, the Company had the following placements of share transactions:

(i) On 14 June 2007, the Company allotted and issued a total of 2,340,000,000 ordinary shares of 

HK$0.02 each for cash at a price of HK$0.075 per share. Further details of the placing are set out in 

the Company’s announcement dated 14 June 2007.

(ii) On 2 August 2007, the Company allotted and issued a total of 744,530,000 ordinary shares of 

HK$0.10 each for cash at a price of HK$0.18 per share. Further details of the placing are set out in 

the Company’s announcement dated 2 August 2007.

(iii) On 23 August 2007, the Company allotted and issued a total of 987,000,000 ordinary shares of 

HK$0.10 each for cash at a price of HK$0.10 per share. Further details of the placing are also set 

out in the Company’s announcement dated 27 August 2007.

(iv) On 26 February 2008, the Company allotted and issued 355,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 

each for cash at a price of HK$0.26 per share. Further details of the placing are set out in the 

Company’s announcement dated 26 February 2008.

(e) The Company effected a capital reorganisation on 27 July 2007 which involved: (i) a share consolidation of 

every five shares in the issued and unissued ordinary share capital of the Company of HK$0.02 each into 

one consolidated share of HK$0.10; and (ii) an increase in the authorised share capital of the Company from 

HK$500,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.02 each to HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 

50,000,000,000 consolidated shares of HK$0.10 each. Further details of the Capital Reorganisation are also 

set out in the Company’s announcements dated 14 June 2007 and 23 July 2007.

(f) During the current year,  rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) of one rights share for every two existing shares 

held by members on the register of members on 24 September 2007 was made, at an issue price of HK$0.10 

per rights share, resulting in the issue of 2,961,113,194 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each for a total cash 

consideration before expenses of approximately HK$246,000,000. Further details of the Rights Issue are 

also set out in a prospectus of the Company dated 28 September 2007.

(g) The Company effected a capital reorganisation on 20 December 2007 which involved: (i) a reduction in 

the nominal value of each issued ordinary share of the Company from HK$0.10 to HK$0.02 each by the 

cancellation of HK$0.08 of the paid-up capital for each issued ordinary share; (ii) a transfer of the credit 

arising from the capital reduction of approximately HK$710,667,000 to the Company’s contributed surplus 

account; (iii) a sub-division of every authorised but unissued ordinary capital of the Company of HK$0.10 

each into five shares of HK$0.02 each; (iv) a reduction in the authorised share capital of the Company from 

HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each to HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 

50,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.02 each, before expenses, of approximately HK$246,000,000; and (v) a 

share consolidation of every 5 shares in the issued and unissued ordinary share capital of the Company of 

HK$0.02 each into one consolidated share of HK$0.10. Further details of the capital reorganisation are also 

set out in the Company’s circular dated 26 November 2007.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option schemes and the share options issued under the schemes are included in note 

28 to the financial statements.

Warrants

During the year, a bonus issue of warrants (the “Warrants”) in the proportion of one Warrant for every five shares 

held by members of the Company on the register of members of the Company on 20 December 2007 was made, 

resulting in 355,333,583 Warrants being issued. Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for one 

ordinary share of the Company of HK$0.10 at an initial subscription price of HK$0.60 per share, payable in cash 

and subject to adjustment, and the Warrant is exercisable at any time between the date of issue of the Warrants and 

the day immediately preceding the date which is 18 months after the date of issue.

During the year, no warrant was exercised. As the balance sheet date, the Company had 355,333,583 Warrants 

outstanding. The exercise in full of such Warrants would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result 

in the issue of 355,333,583 additional shares of the Company HK$0.10 each.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 10 October 1996, which was subsequently amended on 30 

September 1997, for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to 

the success of the Group’s operations (the “Old Share Option Scheme”). The provisions of the Old Share Option 

Scheme did not comply with the current requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, pursuant to 

an ordinary resolution passed at a special general meeting of the Company held on 28 September 2004, a new share 

option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) which complies with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules was adopted 

to replace the Old Share Option Scheme and the Old Share Option Scheme was terminated with immediate effect.

Eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, including the independent 

non-executive directors, and other employees of the Group and of the investee entities and any consultant, advisor or 

agent engaged by any member of the Group or any investee entity. The new Share Option Scheme became effective 

on 28 September 2004 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the New Share Option 

Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. 

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the New Share Option 

Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further 

grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their 

associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share 

options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any 

of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value 

(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-

month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 15 days from the 

date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. There is no provision as to 

the minimum period for which the share options must be held or the performance targets which must be achieved 

before the share options can be exercised. The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the 

directors and commences on the date of grant and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of 

offer of the share options or the expiry date of the New Share Option Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of 

offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading 

days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares. Share options do 

not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share options were granted during the year and no share options were outstanding as at 31 March 2008 and 2007.
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The following share options were outstanding under the New Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 

2007:

 Number of share options** Price of the Company’s shares***
  

         At grant Immediately At exercise
 At Granted Exercised Forfeited At   Exercise price date before the date
Name or category 1 April during during during 31 March Date of grant of Exercise period of of share of share exercise of share
 of participant 2006 the year the year the year 2007 share options* share options options** options date options
 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000   HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
        per share per share per share per share

Directors
Mr. Kwong Kai Sing,

 Benny – 141,500 (141,500) – – 10-05-2006 10-05-2006 to 10-05-2016 0.025 0.027 0.027 0.027

Ms. Lo Ki Yan, Karen – 141,500 (141,500) – – 10-05-2006 10-05-2006 to 10-05-2016 0.025 0.027 0.027 0.026

Mr. Ong Peter – 141,500 (141,500) – – 10-05-2006 10-05-2006 to 10-05-2016 0.025 0.027 0.026 0.027

Ms. Poon Chi Wan – 141,500 (141,500) – – 10-05-2006 10-05-2006 to 10-05-2016 0.025 0.027 0.027 0.026
     

 – 566,000 (566,000) – –
     

Investment advisor

In aggregate – 713,400 (713,400) – – 09-03-2007 09-03-2007 to 09-03-2017 0.023 0.023 0.022 0.023
     

 – 1,279,400 (1,279,400) – –
     

* The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise 

period.

** The exercise price and the number of share options are subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus 

issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

*** The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of grant of the share options is the Stock 

Exchange closing price on the trading day immediately prior to the date of grant of the options. The price 

of the Company’s shares disclosed immediately before the exercise date of the share options is the weighted 

average of the Stock Exchange closing prices immediately before the dates on which the options were 

exercised over all of the exercises of options within the disclosure line.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year ended 31 March 2007 was HK$6,645,000 of which the 

Group recognised a share option expense of HK$6,645,000 during that year.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year ended 31 March 2007 was estimated as at the 

date of grant, using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon 

which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended 31 March 

2007:

Dividend yield (%) -

Expected volatility (%) 61.46 - 104.43

Historical volatility (%) 104.43

Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.190 - 4.153

Expected life of options (year) 0.08 - 1

Weighted average share price (HK$) 0.0245

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the past one year and is not necessarily 

indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical 

volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.
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At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had no share option outstanding under the New 

Share Option Scheme.

29. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are 

presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Company
 Reserves
 

        Equity
        component
  Share Capital Contri- Share Accu-  of
  premium redemption buted option mulated  convertible
  account reserve surplus reserve losses Total notes
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2006  387,885 1,177 319,113 674 (125,919) 582,930 –

Issue of 2006 CNs 24 – – – – – – 44,192

Redemption of 2006 CNs  – – – – – – (6,629)

Conversion of 2006 CNs 27(a) 61,043 – – – – 61,043 (33,144)

Equity-settled share option

 arrangements 28 – – – 6,645 – 6,645 –

Share options exercised 27(b) 12,289 – – (7,319) – 4,970 –

Loss for the year  – – – – (201,054) (201,054) –
        

At 31 March 2007 and at

 1 April 2007  461,217 1,177 319,113 – (326,973) 454,534 4,419

Conversion of 2006 CNs 27(c) 8,228 – – – – 8,228 (4,419)

Issue of new shares 27(d) 245,062 – – – – 245,062 –

Capital reorganisation 27(g) – – 710,667 – – 710,667 –

Share issue expenses  (19,915) – – – – (19,915) –

Loss for the year  – – – – (262,753) (262,753) –
        

At 31 March 2008  694,592 1,177 1,029,780 – (589,726) 1,135,823 –
        

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company’s share premium account may be distributed in the 

form of fully paid bonus shares.

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company may make distributions to its members out of the 

contributed surplus in certain circumstances.
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:

 Property, plant and equipment (note 13) 12,518 849

 Investment property (note 14) 20,000 –

 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 116 48

 Cash and cash equivalents – 2

 Other payables and accruals (1,003) (9)

 Interest-bearing bank borrowings (21,176) –

 Deferred tax liabilities (note 26) (416) –

 Amounts due from/(to) group companies 9,791 (6,988)
  

 19,830 (6,098)

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries disposed of (9,791) 6,988

Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries 6,877 (410)
  

 16,916 480
  

Satisfied by:

 Cash 16,916 480
  

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as 

follows:

  

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash consideration 16,916 480

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of – (2)
  

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in 

 respect of the disposal of subsidiaries 16,916 478
  

The subsidiaries disposed of during the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007 did not contribute any revenue 

to the Group’s consolidated turnover but contributed a loss after tax of HK$785,148 (2007: HK$166,000) to 

the Group’s consolidated loss after tax for the year.

(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary
  

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Net assets acquired:

 Investment property (note 14) – 48,676

 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables – 831

 Tax payable – (39)

 Other payables and accruals – (468)
  

 – 49,000
  

Satisfied by:

 Cash – 49,000
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An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary is as 

follows:

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash consideration – (49,000)

Deposit paid in the prior year – 4,900

Cash and bank balances acquired – –
  

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

 in respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary – (44,100)
  

Since its acquisition, the subsidiary acquired during the prior year contributed HK$2,638,000 to the Group’s 

consolidated turnover and a profit after tax of HK$1,596,000 to the Group’s consolidated loss after tax for 

the year ended 31 March 2007.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the prior year, the revenue of the Group and the 

loss after tax of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2007 would have been HK$532,110,000 and 

HK$227,960,000, respectively.

(c) Major non-cash transactions

(i) On 8 June 2006, the Group entered into a conditional agreement for the sale of an available-

for-sale investment to an independent third party, Freeman Corporation Limited (formerly Inner 

Mongolia Development (Holdings) Limited) (“Freeman”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, 

for a consideration to be satisfied by 55,000,000 ordinary shares of Freeman of HK$0.20 each. 

The transaction was completed on 23 June 2006 and resulted in a gain on disposal before tax of 

approximately HK$3,354,000.

(ii) During the year, the 2006 CNs with face values aggregating HK$30,000,000 (2007: 

HK$225,000,000) issued by the Company were converted into 1,200,000,000 (2007: 9,000,000,000) 

new ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company (note 27).

31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings, which are secured by the assets of the Group, are included 

in notes 13, 14, 21 and 23 to the financial statements.

32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases certain of its investment properties (note 14) under operating lease arrangements, with leases 

negotiated for terms of two years.

At 31 March 2008, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases 

with its tenants falling due as follows:

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 7,434 6,083

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2,314 1,901
  

 9,748 7,984
  



APPENDIX I FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

I – 57

33. COMMITMENTS
 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted, but not provided for:

 Investment at fair value through profit or loss* – 845
  

* On 9 March 2007, the Group entered into an irrevocable undertaking by way of rights of 10 rights shares for 

every share in the issued share capital of Unity Investments Holdings Limited (“Unity”), a company listed 

on the Stock Exchange, at a subscription price of HK$0.10 per rights share. Pursuant to the irrevocable 

undertaking, the Group subscribed for the rights entitled to 8,450,000 shares of Unity during the year.

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the balance sheet date, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

 Company
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Guarantees given to banks in connection with

 facilities granted to subsidiaries 112,000 91,260
  

At 31 March 2008, the banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to banks by the 

Company were utilised to the extent of approximately HK$63,348,000 (2007: HK$89,423,000).

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following 

materials transactions with related parties during the year:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group granted a loan of HK$25,000,000 to Century Ample 

Finance Limited (“Century Ample”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, whose director is 

also a director of the Company. The loan was unsecured, bore interest at the Prime Rate and was fully repaid 

during the year. The amount of interest charged to Century Ample during the year was HK$648,000 (2007: 

HK$1,022,000).

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 6,060 4,800

Post-employment benefits 60 60

Share-based payments – 2,423
  

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 6,120 7,283
  

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Group

2008

Financial assets

 Financial assets  Available-
 at fair value through  for-sale
 profit or loss Loans and financial
 – held for trading receivables assets Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale investments – – 9,130 9,130

Convertible bond – loan portion – 16,630 – 16,630

Convertible bond – option derivatives 1,626 – – 1,626

Investments at fair value through

 profit or loss 357,627 – – 357,627

Loans receivable – 573,569 – 573,569

Financial assets included in prepayments,

 deposits and other receivables (note 22) – 23,672 – 23,672

Cash and bank balances – 205,172 – 205,172
    

 359,253 819,043 9,130 1,187,426
    

Financial liabilities

  Financial
 Financial liabilities
 liabilities at at fair value
 amortised through profit
 cost or loss Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 5,031 – 5,031

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 79,006 – 79,006
   

 84,037 – 84,037
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Group

2007

Financial assets

 Financial assets  Available-
 at fair value through  for-sale
 profit or loss Loans and financial
 – held for trading receivables assets Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Available-for-sale investments – – 8,719 8,719

Investments at fair value through

 profit or loss 352,195 – – 352,195

Loans receivable – 297,850 – 297,850

Financial assets included in prepayments,

 deposits and other receivables (note 22) – 15,132 – 15,132

Cash and bank balances – 127,695 – 127,695
    

 352,195 440,677 8,719 801,591
    

Financial liabilities

  Financial
 Financial liabilities
 liabilities at at fair value
 amortised through profit
 cost or loss Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 37,374 – 37,374

Derivative financial instrument – 557 557

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 109,382 – 109,382

Convertible notes 27,810 – 27,810
   

 174,566 557 175,123
   

Company

Financial assets

 Loans and receivables
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets included in prepayments

 and other receivables (note 22) 176 176

Cash and bank balances 202,020 127,441
  

 202,196 127,617
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Financial liabilities

  

 Financial liabilities
 at amortised cost
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 3,092 2,593

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 15,658 19,959

Convertible notes – 27,810
  

 18,750 50,362
  

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank borrowings and cash and short 

term deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The 

Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as loans receivable, deposits and other receivables, other 

payables and accruals, available-for-sale investments, a convertible bond and investments at fair value through profit 

or loss, which arise directly from its operations or for investment purposes.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk and 

liquidity risk as further detailed below. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and 

they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing 

financial assets and liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly loans receivable primarily at floating 

interest rates which are mostly short term in nature whereas financial liabilities are mainly bank borrowings at 

floating interest rates. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rate available.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other 

variables held constant, of the Group’s and the Company’s loss before tax (through the impact on floating rate 

borrowings).

 Group Company
  Increase/  Increase/
 Increase/ (decrease) Increase/ (decrease)
 (decrease)  in loss (decrease)  in loss
 in basis points before tax in basis points before tax
  HK$’000  HK$’000
2008

Hong Kong dollar 25 1,058 25 56

Hong Kong dollar (25) (1,058) (25) (56)

2007

Hong Kong dollar 25 1,448 25 50

Hong Kong dollar (25) (1,448) (25) (50)

Credit risk

The Group’s major exposure to the credit risk relating to its loans receivable, convertible bond, deposits and other 

receivables and bank balances, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the 

carrying amounts of these instruments. The Group’s loans receivable arise from the ordinary course of business of 

the Group and are closely monitored by the directors on an ongoing basis. 
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Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from loans receivable are disclosed 

in note 19 to the financial statements.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels 

of equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from 

individual equity investments classified as trading equity investments (note 21) and available-for-sale investments 

(note 17) as at 31 March 2008. The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Hong Kong, Singapore and Taiwan 

stock exchanges and are valued at quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest trading day in 

the year to the balance sheet date, and their respective highest and lowest points during the year were as follows:

  High/low  High/low
  During the  During the
  year ended  year ended
 31 March 2008 31 March 2008 31 March 2007 31 March 2007

Hong Kong – Hang Seng Index 22,849 31,638/19,810 19,801 20,310/15,234

Singapore – Straits Times Index 3,007 3,831/2,806 3,161 3,229/2,253

Taiwan – TAIEX Index 8,573 9,758/7,517 7,884 7,935/6,258

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% change in the fair values of the equity investments, 

with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the balance 

sheet date. For the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investments the impact is deemed to 

be on the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors such as impairment 

which might impact on the income statement.

  Increase/
 Carrying amount decrease Increase/
 of equity in loss decrease
 investments before tax in equity
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2008

Investments listed in:

 Hong Kong – Held-for-trading 316,186 31,619 –

 Singapore – Held-for-trading 41,441 4,144 –

 Taiwan – Available-for-sale 8,060 – 806

2007

Investments listed in:

 Hong Kong – Held-for-trading 285,098 28,510 –

 Singapore – Held-for-trading 55,689 5,569 –

 Taiwan – Available-for-sale 7,889 – 789

Liquidity risk

The Group’s liquidity risk was minimal in the current year and is managed by matching the raising of loans or 

equity funding to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected 

liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of 

cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in 

the short and long term.
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The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on the contracted 

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Group

2008
   3 to
  Less than less than 1 to 5 Over
 On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities included in

 other payables and accruals 550 2,658 650 1,173 – 5,031

Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 2,901 9,813 41,922 36,907 91,543
      

 550 5,559 10,463 43,095 36,907 96,574
      

2007
   3 to
  Less than less than 1 to 5 Over
 On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities included in

 other payables and accruals 591 35,010 1,160 613 – 37,374

Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 2,889 9,873 50,542 62,101 125,405

Convertible notes 33,000 – – – – 33,000
      

 33,591 37,899 11,033 51,155 62,101 195,779
      

Company

2008
   3 to
  Less than less than 1 to 5 Over
 On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities included in

 other payables and accruals 140 2,952 – – – 3,092

Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 1,002 4,168 10,488 – 15,658
      

 140 3,954 4,168 10,488 – 18,750
      

2007
   3 to
  Less than less than 1 to 5 Over
 On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities included in

 other payables and accruals 140 2,453 – – – 2,593

Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 538 2,787 13,036 3,598 19,959

Convertible notes 33,000 – – – – 33,000
      

 33,140 2,991 2,787 13,036 3,598 55,552
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Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions and 

the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 

dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any 

externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the 

years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total borrowings divided by total assets. Total borrowings 

include interest-bearing bank borrowings. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a reasonable level. 

The gearing ratios as at the balance sheet dates were as follows:

 Group
 2008 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing bank borrowings 79,006 109,382
  

Total assets 1,355,171 1,002,232
  

Gearing ratio 6% 11%
  

38. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities 

approximated to their fair values.

39. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the following significant events of the Group, not disclosed elsewhere in the 

financial statements, took place:

(a) On 25 April 2008, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party 

to acquire the entire equity interest in E-Garden Properties Limited (“E-Garden”) at a cash consideration 

of HK$101,170,000. The principal activity of E-Garden is investment holding. Fast Champion Limited, 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of E-Garden, is the registered owner of a property located at the basement of 

China United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong.
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(b) On 19 May 2008, the Group entered into three sale and purchase agreements with three third parties 

(collectively the “Purchasers”) to dispose of its entire equity interests in Glamourous Investments Limited 

(“Glamourous”), Best Inspire Limited (“Best Inspire”) and Bright Majestic Limited (“Bright Majestic”) 

for considerations of HK$20,000,000, HK$32,000,000 and HK$34,000,000, respectively. The aggregate 

considerations shall be satisfied by the convertible notes issued by Willie International Holdings Limited, 

the holding company of the Purchasers, which is incorporated and listed in Hong Kong.

Glamourous, Best Inspire and Bright Majestic hold properties located at 30th, 31st and 32nd floors, of 

China United Centre, No. 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong, respectively.

40. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, due to the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs 

during the year, certain comparative amounts have been adjusted to conform with the current year’s presentation 

and to show separately comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first time for the year ended 31 

March 2008. Certain comparative amounts under segment information have also been reclassified to conform with 

the current year’s presentation. The directors consider that such reclassifications will better reflect the nature of the 

transactions.

As further explained in note 5 to the financial statements, certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to 

conform with the current year’s presentation.

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 July 2008.
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3. WORKING CAPITAL

The Directors are satisfied after due and careful enquiry that taking into account the present 

internal financial resources of the Group and the available credit facilities, in the absence of unforeseen 

circumstances, the Group has sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is for at least 

twelve months from the date of this circular.

4. INDEBTEDNESS

Borrowings

At the close of business on 30 April 2009, being the latest practicable date for the purpose 

of this indebtedness statement prior to the printing of this circular, the Group had aggregate 

outstanding borrowings comprising secured bank loans of approximately HK$43,460,000.

The Group’s bank loans were secured by the first legal charges over the Group’s investment 

properties.

Contingent liabilities

At the close of business on 30 April 2009, being the latest practicable date for the purpose 

of this indebtedness statement prior to the printing of this circular, the Group had no material 

contingent liabilities.

Disclaimers

Save as aforesaid or otherwise disclosed herein, and apart from intra-group liabilities and 

normal trade payables, the Group did not have any outstanding mortgages, charges, debentures or 

other loan capital, bank overdrafts, loans, debt securities or other similar indebtedness, liabilities 

under acceptances or acceptances credits, finance leases or hire purchase commitments, guarantees 

or other material contingent liabilities at the close of business on 30 April 2009.

No material changes

The Directors have confirmed that there has not been any material change in the indebtedness 

and contingent liabilities of the Group since 30 April 2009.
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5. FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECTS

The Group is principally engaged in property related investments, investment in securities, 

investment in advertising and lottery related businesses and money-lending businesses. With the global 

drop in the securities market, the Group has also been affected. However, it appears that the market has 

bottomed out and would gradually recover and the loss would be minimised.

As mentioned in the section headed “Reasons for, and benefits of, the Acquisition” in the Letter 

from the Board of this circular, the Acquisition provides the Group with a good opportunity to acquire 

the Property at a comparatively reasonable price and the Directors consider that the Acquisition is a good 

investment opportunity and believe that the Group will benefit from the anticipated growth in value of 

the Property. The Property will continue to be leased immediately after Completion for rental income and 

depending on the market conditions, may be sold for gain after expiration of the lease.

In general, the Group has a strong equity base and is in a very strong position to take on new 

investment opportunities as and when they arise. It is anticipated that the stock market will remain volatile 

in the foreseeable future and accordingly the Board will exercise extreme caution and adopt a prudent 

approach in conducting investment activities.

6. MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE

Save as disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 27 October 2008 and 15 May 

2009, as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are not aware of any material adverse change in the 

financial or trading position of the Group since 31 March 2008, the date to which the latest published 

audited consolidated financial statements of the Group were made up.
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The unaudited financial information on the Property for the period from 1 June 2008 to 31 March 

2009 set out below has been prepared by the Directors based on the information provided by the agent of 

Joint Gain. Other than such limited information, the Directors are unable to gain access to the underlying 

books and records of Joint Gain regarding the direct costs and other expenses including finance cost 

and provision for Hong Kong profits tax that were relevant for the preparation of the unaudited financial 

information on the Property.  Accordingly, it may not give a true picture of the performance of the 

Property actually occurred during the period from 1 June 2008 to 31 March 2009. The Company has also 

applied, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the requirement of 

Rule 14.67(6)(b)(i) of the Listing Rules which requires the Company to include in this circular a profit 

and loss statement of the Property for the 3 preceding financial years with the reporting accountants 

confirming that the information therein are derived from the underlying books and records as the Directors 

were unable to gain access to the underlying books and records of Joint Gain.

1. UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE PROPERTY

 For the period from
 1 June 2008 to
 31 March 2009
 HK$’000

Gross rental income 1,400
 

Note: The gross rental income is based on the existing valid tenancy agreement provided by the agent of Joint Gain.

Unaudited financial information on the Property for the period from 1 June 2008 to 31 March 2009 

set out above have been prepared by the Directors based on the information provided by the agent of Joint 

Gain and procedures have been undertaken by the reporting accountants of the Company in accordance 

with the Hong Kong Standard on Related Service 4400 “Engagements to Perform Agreed Upon Procedures 

Regarding Financial Information” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants to 

ensure that the amount of gross rental income for the period from 1 June 2008 to 31 March 2009 as set out 

above is in agreement with the information provided by the agent of Joint Gain.
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The following is the text of a report, prepared for the sole purpose of inclusion in this circular, 

received from the independent reporting accountants, Lak & Associates C.P.A. Limited, Certified Public 

Accountants, Hong Kong, in respect of the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Group as set 

out in this Appendix.

Certified Public Accountants

3rd Floor, Chinachem Tower

34-37 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

27 May 2009

The Board of Directors

Heritage International Holdings Limited

29/F., China United Centre

28 Marble Road, North Point

Hong Kong

Dear Sirs

ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF HERITAGE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

We report on the unaudited pro forma financial information of Heritage International Holdings 

Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”), which 

has been prepared by the directors of the Company for illustrative purposes only, to provide information 

about how the acquisition of House No. B7 (including its 2 car parking spaces), Regalia Bay, No.88 

Wong Ma Kok Road, Hong Kong may have affected the financial information presented, for inclusion in 

Appendix III to the circular dated 27 May 2009 (the “Circular”). The basis of preparation of the unaudited 

pro forma financial information is set out on Appendix III to the Circular.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and the Reporting Accountants

It is the responsibility solely of the directors of the Company to prepare the unaudited pro forma 

financial information in accordance with paragraph 4.29 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 

on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and with reference to Accounting 

Guideline 7 “Preparation of Pro Forma Financial Information for Inclusion in Investment Circulars” issued 

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by paragraph 4.29(7) of the Listing Rules, 

on the unaudited pro forma financial information and to report our opinion to you. We do not accept any 

responsibility for any reports previously given by us on any financial information used in the compilation 

of the unaudited pro forma financial information beyond that owed to those to whom those reports were 

addressed by us at the dates of their issue.
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Basis of opinion

We conducted our engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Investment Circular 

Reporting Engagements 300 “Accountants’ Reports on Pro Forma Financial Information in Investment 

Circulars” issued by the HKICPA. Our work consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial 

information with source documents, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing 

the unaudited pro forma financial information with the directors of the Company. This engagement did not 

involve independent examination of any of the underlying financial information.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we considered 

necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the unaudited 

pro forma financial information has been properly compiled by the directors of the Company on the basis 

stated, that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group and that the adjustments 

are appropriate for the purposes of the unaudited pro forma financial information as disclosed pursuant to 

paragraph 4.29(1) of the Listing Rules.

The unaudited pro forma financial information is for illustrative purpose only, based on the 

judgments and assumptions of the directors of the Company, and, because of its hypothetical nature, 

does not provide any assurance or indication that any event will take place in the future and may not be 

indicative of the financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2008 or any future date.

Opinion

In our opinion:

a) the unaudited pro forma financial information has been properly compiled by the directors of 

the Company on the basis stated;

b) such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group; and

c) the adjustments are appropriate for the purposes of the unaudited pro forma financial 

information as disclosed pursuant to paragraph 4.29(1) of the Listing Rules.

Yours faithfully

Lak & Associates C.P.A. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Hui Fan
Practising Certificate Number P04692
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED NET ASSETS STATEMENT

The unaudited pro forma consolidated net assets statement of the Group is prepared based on the 

unaudited consolidated balance sheet extracted from the latest published interim report as at 30 September 

2008, after making pro forma adjustments relating to the Acquisition that are (i) directly attributable to 

the transaction; and (ii) factually supportable, as if the Acquisition had been completed on 30 September 

2008.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated net assets statement of the Group has been prepared to 

provide the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Group as if the Acquisition had been 

completed on 30 September 2008. As it is prepared for illustrative purposes only and because of its 

hypothetical nature, it may not give a true picture of the financial position of the Group as at 30 September 

2008 or at any future date.

  The Group
  as at
  30 September  The Group
  2008 Pro forma after the
  (unaudited) adjustments Acquisition
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment  7,846  7,846

Investment properties 1 141,600 47,198 188,798

Available-for-sale investments  12,080  12,080

Loan receivable  3,555  3,555

Convertible bond – loan portion  17,484  17,484
    

  182,565  229,763
    

Current assets
Loans receivable  529,196  529,196

Convertible bond – option derivatives  –  –

Other derivative financial instrument  7,214  7,214

Investments at fair value through profit or loss  308,637  308,637

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  9,435  9,435

Cash and bank balances 2 33,982 (15,418) 18,564
    

  888,464  873,046
    

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 3 12,568 280 12,848

Interest-bearing bank borrowings  2,097  2,097

Tax payable  100  100
    

  14,765  15,045
    

Net current assets  873,699  858,001
    

Total assets less current liabilities  1,056,264  1,087,764
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  The Group
  as at
  30 September  The Group
  2008 Pro forma after the
  (unaudited) adjustments Acquisition
 Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 1 42,593 31,500 74,093

Deferred tax liabilities  214  214
    

  42,807  74,307
    

Net assets  1,013,457  1,013,457
    

Notes:

1. The total cost of the Acquisition is as follows:-

 HK$’000

Consideration of the Acquisition 45,000

Related cost directly attributed to the cost of the Property

– Stamp duty 1,688

– Agency fee 360

– Professional fee 150
 

 47,198
 

 30% of the consideration of the Property amounting to HK$13,500,000 will be paid in cash (Note 2), the remaining 

70% of consideration amounting to HK$31,500,000 is expected to be funded by bank borrowings.

2. Cash and bank balances

 HK$’000

Consideration of the Acquisition (Note 1) 13,500

Related cost directly attributed to the cost of the Property (Note 1) 2,198

Transfer of rental deposit paid by the tenant (Note 3) (280)
 

 15,418
 

3. Joint Gain shall transfer to the Group the rental deposit, amounting to HK$280,000 paid by the tenant pursuant to 

the Provisional Agreement.
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APPENDIX IV PROPERTY VALUATION

The following is the text of a letter and valuation certificate, prepared for the purpose of 

incorporation in this circular received from Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent valuer, in connection 

with its valuation as at 20 April 2009 of the property to be acquired by the Group.

Rm 802, 8/F., On Hong Commercial

Building, 145 Hennessy Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong

香港灣仔軒尼詩道145號
安康商業大廈8字樓802室
Tel: (852) 2529 9448

Fax: (852) 3544 6316

27 May 2009

The Board of Directors
Heritage International Holdings Limited
29th Floor

China United Centre

28 Marble Road

North Point Hong Kong.

Dear Sirs,

Re: Valuation of House No. B7 (Including its 2 Car Parking Spaces), Regalia Bay, No. 88 Wong Ma 
Kok Road, Hong Kong (the “property”)

In accordance with the instructions of Heritage International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) to 

value the property to be acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries or its associates (“the Group”), we 

confirm that we have carried out inspections of the property, made relevant enquiries and obtained such 

further information as we consider necessary for the purpose of providing you with our opinion of the 

market value of the property as at 20 April 2009 (the “date of valuation”).

BASIS OF VALUATION

Our valuation of the property represents the market value which we would define as intended to 

mean “the estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between a 

willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties 

had each acted knowledgeably, prudently, and without compulsion”.

TITLESHIP

We have caused title search to be made in the Land Registry for the property. However, we have not 

verified ownership of the property and the existence of any encumbrances that would affect ownership of 

them. All information relating to property title is disclosed herein for reference only.
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VALUATION METHODOLOGY

The property is valued by the comparison method where comparison based on prices realised or 

market prices of comparable properties is made. Comparable properties of similar size, character and 

location are analysed and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and disadvantages of 

each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of capital values.

As the property is currently subject to existing tenancy, we have also compared the initial rental 

yield of the property (based on the actual rent passing and the value concluded by the comparison method) 

with the rental yield as observed from the market.

ASSUMPTIONS

Our valuation has been made on the assumption that the owners sell the property on the market 

without the benefit of deferred terms contracts, leaseback, joint ventures, management agreements or any 

similar arrangement which would serve to affect the values of the property.

Other special assumptions for our valuation (if any) would be stated out in the footnotes of the 

valuation certificate attached herewith.

LIMITING CONDITIONS

No allowance has been made in our report for any charges, mortgages or amounts owing on the 

property nor for any expenses or taxation which may be incurred in effecting a sale. It is assumed that the 

property is free from encumbrances, restrictions and outgoings of an onerous nature, which could affect 

their values. Our valuation have been made on the assumption that the seller sells the property on the 

market without the benefit of a deferred term contract, leaseback, joint venture, management agreement or 

any similar arrangement, which could serve to affect the values of the property.

We have relied to a very considerable extent on the information given by the Group and have 

accepted advice given to us on such matters as tenure, planning approvals, statutory notices, easements, 

particulars of occupancy, lettings, and all other relevant matters.

We have not carried out detailed site measurements to verify the correctness of the site areas in 

respect of the property but have assumed that the site areas shown on the documents and official site 

plans handed to us are correct. All documents and contracts have been used as reference only and all 

dimensions, measurements and areas are approximations.

We have inspected the exterior of the property. However, no structural survey has been made for 

them. In the course of our inspection, we did not note any apparent defects. We are not, however, able to 

report whether the buildings and structures inspected by us are free of rot, infestation or any structural 

defect. No test was carried out on any of the building services and equipment.
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We have had no reason to doubt the truth and accuracy of the information provided to us by the 

Group. We have also sought confirmation from the Group that no material factors have been omitted from 

the information supplied. We consider that we have been provided with sufficient information to reach an 

informed view, and we have no reason to suspect that any material information has been withheld.

In valuing the property, we have complied with all the requirements contained in Chapter 5 of the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited; the HKIS 

Valuation Standards on Properties (First Edition 2005) published by The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors 

effective from 1st January 2005.

Our valuation certificate is attached herewith.

Yours faithfully,

for and on behalf of

Asset Appraisal Limited

Lau Sze Wing Sandra
MFin MHKIS RPS (GP)

Director

Lau Sze Wing Sandra is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, an Associate of the Australian 

Property Institute and a Registered Professional Surveyor in General Practice. She is on the list of 

Property Valuers for Undertaking Valuations for Incorporation or Reference in Listing Particulars and 

Circulars and Valuations in Connection with Takeovers and Mergers of the Hong Kong Institute of 

Surveyors, Registered Business Valuer under the Hong Kong Business Forum and has over 10 years’ 

experience in valuation of properties in Hong Kong, in Macau and in the PRC.
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VALUATION CERTIFICATE

Property to be acquired by the Group

Property Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy

Market Value
in existing
state as at

20 April 2009

House No. B7 

(Including its 2 Car 

Parking Spaces)

Regalia Bay,

No. 88 Wong Ma 

Kok Road,

Hong Kong.

37/9960th shares 

of and in Rural 

Building Lot No. 

1138.

Regalia Bay is a large scale 

luxury residential development 

comprising a total of 139 detached 

and semi-detached houses with 

recreational and estate facilities.

The property, which was 

completed in about 2003, 

comprises a 3-storey semi-

detached house with two car 

parking spaces.

The gross floor area and saleable 

area of the property (excluding the 

car parking spaces and ancillary 

areas thereof) are approximately 

4,089 square feet and 3,271 square 

feet respectively.

The area of ancillary 

accommodation and car parking 

spaces are as follows:

Flat Roof 1,317 sq. ft. or thereabouts.

Garden 130 sq. ft. or thereabouts.

Car parking  298 sq. ft. or thereabouts.

 spaces

The property is held under 

Conditions of Sale No. 12461 for 

a term commencing from 3 June 

1997 and expiring on 30 June 

2047.

The annual Government rent for 

the property is an amount equal to 

three per cent of the rateable value 

of the property.

The property is currently subject 

to an existing tenancy for a term 

of two years from 1 June 2008 

to 31 May 2010 at a monthly 

rent of HK$140,000, inclusive 

of rates, management fees and 

government rent

HK$46,000,000
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Notes:

1. The registered owner of the property is Joint Gain International Limited registered vide memorial no. UB9192985 dated 26 

March 2004.

2. The property is subject to a mortgage in favour of DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited registered vide memorial no. 

UB9192986 dated 26 March 2004.

3. The property is subject to an assignment of rentals favour of DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited registered vide memorial no. 

05112901480015 dated 22 November 2005.

4. The property is falling within an area zoned Residential (Group C) under the Stanley Outline Zoning Plan No. S/H19/10.
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the purpose of 

giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively and individually accept full 

responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this circular and confirm, having made all 

reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no other facts the omission of 

which would make any statement herein misleading.

2. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief 

executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its 

associated corporation(s) (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified 

to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of 

the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such 

provisions of the SFO) or were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register 

referred to therein or were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 

of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as 

follows:

   Approximate
   percentage
   of existing issued
  Number of Shares share capital of
Name of Director Nature of interest (long position) the Company

Kwong Kai Sing, Benny Beneficial owner 1,544,400 0.60%

Ong Peter Beneficial owner 859,536 0.34%

Poon Chi Wan Beneficial owner 118,800 0.05%

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date,

(i) none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company held any interests or short positions 

in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 

corporation(s) (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 

and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken 

or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or were required, pursuant to section 

352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or were required, pursuant 

to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing 

Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange; and

(ii) none of the Directors had any direct or indirect interests in any assets which have since 31 

March 2008 (being the date to which the latest published audited accounts of the Company 

were made up) been acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group, or are 

proposed to be acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group.
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In addition, save as disclosed above, none of the Directors is materially interested in any contracts 

or arrangements subsisting at the date of this circular which is significant in relation to the business of the 

Group.

3. LITIGATION

No member of the Group is engaged in any litigation or claims of material importance and no 

litigation or claims of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatened by or 

against any member of the Group.

4. SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had any existing or proposed service 

contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries other than contracts expiring or determinable by the 

Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

5. COMPETING INTERESTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors or their respective associate(s) was 

interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the 

business of the Group.

6. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) have 

been entered into by members of the Group within the two years immediately preceding the date of this 

circular and are or may be material:

(a) a termination agreement dated 30 May 2007 between Easywin Cotai Entertainment Limited 

(a subsidiary of the Company) and a casino operator in Macau terminating the conditional 

junket representative and services agreement dated 11 April 2007 between the Company, 

Easywin Cotai Entertainment Limited and the said casino operator;

(b) a conditional placing agreement dated 13 June 2007 between the Company as issuer and 

Get Nice Investment Limited (“Get Nice”) as placing agent in relation to a placing of 

2,340,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company at a price of HK$0.075 per share. Further 

details of the placing were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 14 June 2007;

(c) a conditional placing agreement dated 2 August 2007 between the Company as issuer and 

Chung Nam Securities Limited (“Chung Nam”) as placing agent in relation to a placing of 

744,530,000 new ordinary shares of the Company at a price of HK$0.18 per share. Further 

details of the placing were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 2 August 

2007;
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(d) a conditional placing agreement dated 23 August 2007 between the Company as issuer and 

Chung Nam as placing agent in relation to a placing of 987,000,000 new ordinary shares of 

the Company at a price of HK$0.10 per share. Further details of the placing were set out in 

the announcement of the Company dated 27 August 2007;

(e) a conditional underwriting agreement dated 23 August 2007 between the Company as issuer 

and Chung Nam as underwriter whereby Chung Nam agreed to underwrite an aggregate of 

not less than 2,467,613,194 and not more than 3,147,248,013 rights shares at the subscription 

price of HK$0.10 per rights share. Further details of the rights issue were set out in the 

announcement of the Company dated 27 August 2007;

(f) a conditional subscription agreement dated 16 February 2008 between Greater Chance Group 

Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) and Hang Fa Lau Holdings Limited in relation to the 

subscription by Greater Chance Group Limited of a 2% convertible bond issued by Hang Fa 

Lau Holdings Limited in an aggregate principal amount of HK$18,000,000. Further details 

of the subscription were set out in the announcement and circular of the Company dated 18 

February 2008 and 6 March 2008 respectively;

(g) a conditional placing agreement dated 26 February 2008 between the Company as issuer and 

Get Nice as placing agent in relation to a placing of 355,000,000 new ordinary shares of the 

Company at a price of HK$0.26 per share. Further details of the placing were set out in the 

announcement of the Company dated 26 February 2008;

(h) a conditional placing agreement dated 22 April 2008 between the Company as issuer and Get 

Nice Securities Limited as placing agent in relation to a placing of 426,000,000 new ordinary 

shares of the Company at a price of HK$0.186 per share. Further details of the placing were 

set out in the announcement of the Company dated 22 April 2008;

(i) a conditional termination deed dated 11 September 2008 entered into between Dollar 

Group Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) and Willie International Holdings Limited 

(“Willie”) in relation to the cancellation of a convertible note in the principal amount 

of HK$86,882,392.88 issued by Willie to Dollar Group Limited and the subscription of 

650,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of Willie by Dollar 

Group Limited. Further details of the transaction were set out in the announcement and 

circular of the Company dated 17 September 2008 and 29 October 2008 respectively;

(j) a conditional settlement deed dated 24 September 2008 between Double Smart Finance 

Limited (a subsidiary of the Company) and Radford Capital Investment Limited (“Radford”) 

in relation to the settlement of a loan in the principal amount of HK$20,000,000 provided 

by Double Smart Finance Limited to Radford by a zero coupon convertible bond issued 

by Radford in an aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000. Further details of the 

transaction were set out in the announcement and circular of the Company dated 26 

September 2008 and 17 October 2008 respectively;
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(k) a conditional settlement deed dated 8 October 2008 between Double Smart Finance Limited 

(a subsidiary of the Company) and Unity Investments Holdings Limited (“Unity”) in relation 

to the settlement of a loan in the principal amount of HK$20,000,000 provided by Double 

Smart Finance Limited to Unity by a zero coupon convertible bond issued by Unity in an 

aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000. Further details of the transaction were set 

out in the announcement and circular of the Company dated 9 October 2008 and 21 October 

2008 respectively; and

(l) a conditional placing agreement dated 28 April 2009 between the Company as issuer and 

Kingston Securities Limited as placing agent in relation to a placing of 51,000,000 new 

ordinary shares of the Company at a price of HK$0.50 per share. Further details of the 

placing were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 April 2009.

7. EXPERTS AND CONSENTS

The following are the qualifications of the experts who have given opinion or advice which are 

contained in this circular:

Name Qualification

Lak & Associates C.P.A. Limited (“LA”) Certified Public Accountants

Asset Appraisal Limited (“AA”) Chartered Surveyors

LA and AA have given and have not withdrawn their respective written consent to the issue of this 

circular with the inclusion of their respective reports and letters and references to their names in the form 

and context in which they are included.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of LA and AA had: (a) any shareholding in any member 

of the Group or the right (whether legally enforceable or not) to subscribe for or to nominate persons 

to subscribe for securities in any member of the Group; and (b) any direct or indirect interest in any 

assets acquired or disposed of by or leased to or proposed to be acquired or disposed of by or leased to 

any member of the Group since 31 March 2008, the date to which the latest published audited financial 

statement of the Group were made up.

8. MISCELLANEOUS

(a) The secretary of the Company is Mr. Chow Chi Wah, Vincent, who is a fellow member of 

the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants and an associate member of Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

(b) The registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, 

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The head office and principal place of business of the Company 

is located on 29/F., China United Centre, No.28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong.
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(c) The Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company is Computershare 

Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 

Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

(d) The English text of this circular shall prevail over the Chinese text in case of inconsistency.

9. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the principal place of business 

of the Company in Hong Kong at 29/F., China United Centre, No.28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong 

Kong during normal business hours on any business day (Saturdays excluded) from the date of this 

circular up to and including the date of the SGM:

(a) the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company;

(b) the material contracts referred to in section 6 of this Appendix;

(c) the report from LA set out in Appendix III to this circular;

(d) the letter and valuation certificate from AA set out in Appendix IV to this circular;

(e) the written consents given by LA and AA referred to in section 7 of this Appendix;

(f) the annual reports of the Company for the two financial years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 

March 2007;

(g) the circular issued by the Company on 15 May 2008 regarding the acquisition of E-Garden 

Properties Limited;

(h) the circular issued by the Company on 30 May 2008 regarding the disposal of the interest in 

the companies which held 30th to 32nd Floors of China United Centre, No.28 Marble Road, 

North Point, Hong Kong;

(i) the circular issued by the Company on 17 October 2008 regarding the subscription of the 

convertible bond issued by Radford;

(j) the circular issued by the Company on 21 October 2008 regarding the subscription of the 

convertible bond issued by Unity; and

(k) the circular issued by the Company on 29 October 2008 regarding the subscription of new 

shares in Willie.
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NOTICE OF THE SGM

HERITAGE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
漢基控股有限公司 *

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 412)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a special general meeting of Heritage International Holdings 

Limited (the “Company”) will be held at 30/F., China United Centre, No.28 Marble Road, North Point, 

Hong Kong on 15 June 2009 at 9:00 a.m. for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing, with 

or without modification, the following resolution of the Company:

ORDINARY RESOLUTION

“THAT the provisional agreement for sale and purchase (the “Provisional Agreement”) entered into 

between Noble Castle International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Joint Gain 

International Limited on 21 April 2009 in relation to the sale and purchase of House No.B7 (including its 

2 car parking spaces), Regalia Bay, No.8 Wong Ma Kok Road, Hong Kong at an aggregate consideration 

of HK$45 million, a copy of which has been produced at the meeting marked “A” and signed by the 

chairman of the meeting for identification, be and is hereby approved, confirmed and ratified and that the 

transactions contemplated thereunder be and are hereby approved and that the directors of the Company 

be and are hereby authorised to do such acts and execute such other documents as they may consider 

necessary, desirable or expedient to carry out or give effect to or otherwise in connection with the 

Provisional Agreement.”

By order of the board

Heritage International Holdings Limited

Chow Chi Wah, Vincent
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 27 May 2009

Notes:

1. Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting shall be entitled to appoint another person as his 
proxy to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Where there are joint registered holders of any share of the Company, any one of such persons may vote at the meeting, 
either personally or by proxy, in respect of such share as if he were solely entitled thereto; but if more than one of such joint 
holders be present at the meeting personally or by proxy, that one of the said persons whose name stands first on the register 
of members of the Company in respect of such share shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof.

3. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude a member from attending and voting at the above meeting or 
any adjournment thereof if he so wishes. In that event, his form of proxy will be deemed to have been revoked.

4. In order to be valid, the form of proxy duly completed and signed in accordance with the instructions printed thereon 
together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy thereof 
must be delivered to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 29/F., China United Centre, No.28 
Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong as soon as possible and in any event not later than 48 hours before the time appointed 
for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

* For identification purposes only


